

East Tennessee State University Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Student Works

12-2009

Dopamine D2 Receptor Priming Enhances Dopaminergic Response to Amphetamine in the Nucleus Accumbens: Role of the D1 and D2 Receptors.

Kimberly Norris Huggins East Tennessee State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://dc.etsu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Huggins, Kimberly Norris, "Dopamine D2 Receptor Priming Enhances Dopaminergic Response to Amphetamine in the Nucleus Accumbens: Role of the D1 and D2 Receptors." (2009). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. Paper 1796. https://dc.etsu.edu/etd/1796

This Dissertation - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Works at Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ East Tennessee State University. For more information, please contact digilib@etsu.edu. Dopamine D2 Receptor Priming Enhances Dopaminergic Response to Amphetamine in

the Nucleus Accumbens: Role of the D1 and D2 Receptors.

A dissertation

presented to

the faculty of the Department of Anatomy and Cell Biology

East Tennessee State University

In partial fulfillment

of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Philosophy in Biomedical Sciences

by

Kimberly Norris Huggins

December 2009

Russell Brown, PhD, Chair

Ron Baisden, PhD

Richard Kostzrewa, PhD

Kenneth Ferslew, PhD

Donald Hoover, PhD

John Schweitzer, PhD

Keywords: Amphetamine, D2 priming, D1 receptor, D2 receptor

ABSTRACT

Dopamine D2 Receptor Priming Enhances Dopaminergic Response to Amphetamine in the Nucleus Accumbens: Role of the D1 and D2 Receptors.

by

Kimberly Norris Huggins

In past work, we have shown neonatal quinpirole (dopamine D_2/D_3 agonist) treatment produces a significant increase in dopamine D_2 receptor sensitivity, a phenomenon known as D_2 receptor priming. Dopamine D₂ receptor priming is common in psychosis. Male and female rats were administered quinpirole (1mg/kg) or saline from postnatal days 1-11 and raised to adulthood (P60). As adults, rats were administered d-amphetamine sulfate (1mg/kg) or saline every other day for 14 days. Approximately 10 min before each amphetamine or saline injection, animals were administered the D1 antagonist SCH 23390 (0.1 mg/kg), the D2 antagonist eticlopride (0.1 mg/kg) or saline. After both injections, rats were placed in a locomotor arena and activity was analyzed for a 10-min period. Results indicated that D₂-priming enhanced locomotor activation effects to amphetamine in both males and females, with females demonstrating higher levels of behavioral activation. SCH 23390 blocked amphetamine sensitization in both males and females to levels below saline controls, whereas eticlopride was more effective in blocking amphetamine sensitization in males as compared to females, although eticlopride did block elevations of behavioral activation in D2-primed males and females. Seven to 10 days after sensitization, microdialysis was performed and amphetamine produced a five-fold increase in dopamine overflow in the nucleus accumbens compared to non D₂-primed rats administered amphetamine. Both D1 and D2 antagonism were effective at blocking amphetamine-induced increases in dopamine overflow. These results show that neonatal guinpirole treatment enhances behavioral activation and dopamine overflow, but there appear to be sex differences in the D2 as compared to D1 response to behavioral activation produced by amphetamine.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	2
LIST OF TABLES	5
LIST OF FIGURES	6

Chapter

1. INTRODUCTION				
Dopamine D2 Receptor Priming Model	9			
Psychosis	13			
Dopamine Hypothesis of Schizophrenia	14			
Modeling Psychosis	15			
Using Animal Models and Their Importance	15			
Animal Models of Psychosis	16			
Other Rodent Models of Schizophrenia	17			
NMDA Receptor Model	17			
Psychostimulant Model	19			
Neonatal Ventral Hippocampal Lesion (NVHL) Model	20			
Comorbidity of Substance Abuse	21			
Substance Abuse in Schizophrenia	22			
Dopaminergic Mechanisms of Amphetamine	24			
Behavioral Sensitization	25			
Modeling Substance Abuse in Animals	26			
Dopamine System	27			
Dopamine Receptors	29			
Sex Differences	32			

Sex Hormones and Psychostimulant Abuse	33
Estrus Cycle and Psychostimulants	35
Goals of This Study	36
2. METHODS	37
Subjects and Housing of Animals	40
Neonatal Drug Treatment	40
Drugs	40
Yawning Behavior	41
Habituation to the Locomotor Arena	42
Behavioral Sensitization	42
Surgical Implantation of Guide Cannula	43
Estrus Cycle	45
Microdialysis and Amphetamine Challenge	45
HPLC Analysis	46
Statistical Analysis	47
3. RESULTS	49
Amphetamine Sensitization	49
Horizontal Activity	49
Turning Behavior	56
Microdialysis	60
Dopamine Overflow	61
DOPAC Overflow	63
Norepinephrine Overflow	65
Homovanillic Acid Overflow	67

4. DISCUSSION	68
Conclusions	86
REFERENCES	89
VITA	127

LIST OF TABLES

Table			Page	
	1.	Numbers and sexes of subjects and the treatment groups for treatment		
		throughout the study design.	48	
	2.	Treatment codes and abbreviations for groups	50	
	3.	DOPAC microdialysis	64	

LIST OF FIGURES

F	Figure				
	1.	Diagram of drug treatment throughout the study	38		
	2.	A) Horizontal activity of males treated with SCH23390	52		
	2.	B) Horizontal activity of males treated with eticlopride	53		
	3.	A) Horizontal activity of females treated with SCH23390	54		
	3.	B) Horizontal activity of females treated with eticlopride	55		
	4.	A) Turning behavior of males treated with SCH23390	57		
	4.	B) Turning behavior of males treated with eticlopride	58		
	5.	A) Turning behavior of females treated with SCH23390	59		
	5.	B) Turning behavior of females treated with eticlopride	60		
	6.	Dopamine overflow in subjects treated with SCH23390	62		
	7.	Dopamine overflow in subjects treated with eticlopride	63		
	8.	Norepinephrine overflow in subjects treated with SCH23390	66		
	9.	Norepinephrine overflow in subjects treated with eticlopride	. 67		
	10.	Schematic of the reward pathway involved in addiction	70		

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Substance use disorder comorbidity in mental illness is widespread, impacting up to 50% of patient populations (Siegfried 1998). Schizophrenia is one of the most common dually diagnosed mental illnesses (Cuffel 1996). Dopamine has been implicated in psychosis as being increased in its activity (Schmitt et al. 2009). This increased activity has been debated, but most agree that this neurotransmitter plays a primary role in both motor behavior and drug reinforcement. In our laboratory, we have used a rodent model of increased dopaminergic activity to analyze drug abuse. This model is focused on increasing the sensitivity of dopamine D2-like receptors in the brain, that is accomplished through developmental treatment with a dopamine D2/D3 agonist quinpirole. Previous work using this model has shown a potentiated effect of amphetamine on dopamine overflow within the dorsal striatum (Nowak et al. 2001). This effect is consistent with findings in schizophrenia (Abi Dargham et al. 1996; Laurelle et al. 1996). Thus, these results suggest that psychotics who use amphetamine may demonstrate a sensitized dopamine response to amphetamine. If this is the case, then this increased dopamine response may be producing a stronger euphoric reaction to stimulant drugs in this population, and this may be the basis for the increased usage of these drugs in this population.

This study uses these past findings as a springboard to analyze the effects of subchronic amphetamine treatment on locomotor sensitization and accumbal dopamine as well as to identify sex differences on these measures. In addition, the roles of dopamine D1 and D2 dopamine receptors in sensitization and the dopaminergic

response to amphetamine are studied. These findings may lead to identifying receptor mechanisms of this effect, be the first study to analyze the roles of D1 and D2 receptors in both males and females in this phenomenon, that may lead to further understanding the significant health problem of substance abuse in psychosis.

Dopamine D2 Receptor Priming Model

Kostrzewa and colleagues have shown that quinpirole, a dopamine D2/D3 receptor agonist, administered during neonatal development results in increases in dopamine D2 receptor sensitivity throughout the animal's lifetime. This is a phenomenon that has been referred to as priming of the D2 receptor. Previous work has shown that quinpirole treatment from postnatal days 1-11, 1-21, or 21-35 results in an increase of dopamine D2 receptor sensitivity that persists throughout the animal's lifetime (Kostrzewa et al. 1990, 1991, 1993a, 1993b, 1995). This change is independent of a change in D2 receptor number. In recent work, we have shown that the neonatal quinpirole treatment model has produced several behavioral changes that are consistent with findings in schizophrenics.

First, as mentioned above, acute amphetamine administration to adult rats neonatally treated with quinpirole produced a robust increase in dopamine overflow in the striatum greater than an increase seen by amphetamine administration alone (Nowak et al. 2001). This is consistent with findings from clinical studies using functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI), positron emission tomography (PET), and single positron emission computer tomography (SPECT) in schizophrenic patients that have shown a pronounced increase of amphetamine-induced dopamine release in the dorsal striatum as well as a decrease of amphetamine-induced dopamine depletion

in drug-naïve schizophrenic patients, indicating a regulatory problem with dopaminergic neurotransmission (Lanzenberger and Kasper 2005, Laruelle, et al. 2005).

Second, a hallmark of psychosis is a deficit in sensorimotor gating, that is most commonly analyzed using the behavioral paradigm prepulse inhibition (PPI). PPI is a psychophysiological index of sensorimotor gating. One of the more consistent behavioral findings in schizophrenics is that PPI is impaired, that has also been suggested to be related to cognitive impairments known to exist in this population (Geyer 1998). In medicated schizophrenia patients, greater PPI impairment during the attended prepulse has been associated with heightened positive symptoms related to the disturbance (Dawson et al. 2000). We have shown that in previous work that adult rats that were neonatally treated with quinpirole demonstrated deficits in sensorimotor gating as tested by PPI (Maple 2005).

Third, neonatal quinpirole treatments have been shown to produce long-term cognitive impairment in both adolescents and adulthood (Brown et al. 2002; 2004; 2005). Cognitive impairment is present in schizophrenia and has been suggested to be the 'core' of behavioral deficits present in the disorder (Elvevag and Goldman 2000). This suggestion follows the discovery that 94% of patients with schizophrenia have neurocognitive deficits in the areas of memory, attention, and executive function and may help predict the functional outcome in schizophrenia (Waldo et al. 1994; Green 1998). Often, these deficits constitute one of the key features in a schizophrenia diagnosis (Peuskens et al. 2005).

Fourth, possibly the most important neurophysiological finding consistent with psychosis is that neonatal quinpirole treatment produces a significant decrease in

RGS9 expression in the nucleus accumbens, striatum, and frontal cortex of adult rats (Maple et al. 2007). RGS9 is a regulator of G-protein signaling at the D2 receptor, and when active RGS9 increases the rate of termination of events at the D2 receptor, ultimately resulting in a lower activity in the D2 receptor (Rahman et al. 2003). Thus, a decrease in RGS9 expression is consistent with an increased signaling at the D2 receptor. Importantly, significant decreases in RGS9 have been shown in these same brain areas post-mortem in human psychotic patients (Seeman et al. 2007).

Fifth, subchronic treatment with the atypical antipsychotic olanzapine has been shown to alleviate cognitive deficits and long-term priming of the D2 receptor produced by neonatal quinpirole treatment (Thacker et al. 2006). Olanzapine is in the atypical class of antipsychotics and blocks the D2 receptor with some affinity as well at the 5-HT2 receptor. Olanzapine is one of the most often prescribed antipsychotics for schizophrenia. Our laboratory has shown that sub-chronic olanzapine treatment given twice daily for 1 month in adulthood modestly alleviated deficits in Morris water maze performance produced by neonatal quinpirole treatment (Thacker et al. 2006). Importantly, this treatment also alleviated the significant increase in yawning produced in rats neonatally treated with quinpirole to control levels after a 7-day washout. Yawning behavior is a dopamine D_2/D_3 receptor mediated event (Cooper, et al. 1989; Collins, et al. 2005). These data demonstrate that not only is D_2 -priming likely primarily responsible for these behavioral effects, but that antipsychotic treatments are effective in alleviating cognitive impairment, that is also consistent with clinical findings in schizophrenics (Gurpegui et al. 2007).

Sixth, another neurochemical consistency in this model is that neonatal quinpirole treatments have been shown to result in neurotrophic factor abnormalities comparable to observations in human schizophrenic patients. Studies from this lab have shown a significant decrease in nerve growth factor (NGF) and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) protein in the hippocampus of D2-primed animals as compared to control treated animals. Further, significant decreases in hippocampal NGF and BDNF protein produced by neonatal quinpirole treatment were reversed by olanzapine, and brain tissue was not taken until after an 8-day washout. Interestingly, sub-chronic olanzapine treatment failed to alleviate significant decreases of genetic expression of NGF or BDNF in the hippocampus or frontal cortex as measured through real-time PCR (RT-PCR; Brown et al. 2008), suggesting that the positive effects of olanzapine on neurotrophic factors in this model may be focused on changes in protein and not genetic expression. This is consistent with findings that have shown nonmedicated schizophrenic patients have an overall decrease in NGF and BDNF expression, hypothetically involved in neurodevelopmental abnormalities in the hippocampus and frontal cortex known to be present in schizophrenia (Aloe et al. 2001, Parikh et al. 2003).

These six consistencies demonstrate the validity of the model relative to psychosis. However, this model should be used with some caution. Although an increase in dopamine D2 receptor sensitivity is a hallmark of psychosis, it is not the only change responsible for the array of behavioral abnormalities known to exist within this disorder. For example, it is also well-known that there is hypoactivity at the glutamatergic N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor that is important for many of the

behavioral and neurochemical abnormalities mentioned above (Labrie and Roder, 2009), and may be important in the increased substance abuse within this population. Further, there are also important changes in the serotonergic system that also may play a role in substance abuse in psychosis as well, and we do not yet know whether these neurotransmitter systems are also disrupted in the same manner within this model. Regardless, increases in D2 receptor sensitivity are a hallmark of psychosis, and we have shown several important consistencies between this model and the human condition.

Psychosis

Psychotic symptoms can occur in several behavioral disorders including schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, obsessive-compulsive disorder, degenerative brain disease, as well as following the abuse of steroids. While these diseases exhibit unique characteristics, one common biomarker is a putative increase in the high-affinity states of dopamine D2 receptors in the central nervous system as a property of psychosis (CNS; Seeman et al. 2005). The D2 dopamine receptor, originally denoted as the antipsychotic receptor, has been examined for changes in density following various treatments, most commonly denervation of the neostriatum and long-term administration of antipsychotics (Seeman et al. 1980; Schwarting and Huston 1996,). Most importantly, increases in D2 receptor sensitivity are the basis of the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia, as all antipsychotic drugs block the D2 receptor.

Dopamine Hypothesis of Schizophrenia

The first formulation of the dopamine (DA) hypothesis resulted from early observations that activation of the dopamine system by psychostimulants produced a behavioral phenomenon that is consistent with psychosis, and that dopamine antagonists relieved this psychotic state (Rossum 1966). These observations led to the hypothesis that hyperactivity of DA transmission was responsible for the disorder. The classic dopamine hypothesis was further bolstered from the correlation between clinical doses of antipsychotic drugs and their potency at blocking DA D2 receptors as well as the psychotogenic effects of DA-enhancing drugs (Creese et al. 1976; Lieberman et al. 1987; Seeman 1987).

The current hypothesis suggests that an imbalance in DA with hyperactive subcortical mesolimbic projections results in hyperstimulation of D2 receptors. This increased sensitivity of D2 receptor causes positive symptoms and hypoactive mesocortical DA projections to the prefrontal cortex (PFC) results in hypostimulation of D1 receptors, that ultimately results in negative symptoms and cognitive impairment (Tzschentke 2001). Weinberger has suggested that the two areas of DA imbalance may be related because a deficiency in mesocortical DA function may translate into disinhibition of mesolimbic DA activity (1987).

Dopamine has been a major focus of the research involving the mechanisms of schizophrenia. Much of the literature suggests a combined impact of glutamatergic and dopaminergic systems as the mechanism underlying psychosis, and some studies have focused on dysfunction in the glutamate system. While each system has shown results lending merit towards and understanding of the disease, it remains difficult to

reconcile the hypoglutamatergic and hyperdopaminergic hypotheses. It is most plausible that the heterogenous symptomology of the disease arise from different neurotransmitter systems. The dopamine hypothesis is no longer the only accepted theory as the basis of schizophrenia but still holds validity in the study of many aspects of the disease.

Modeling Psychosis

Using Animal Models and Their Importance

A recent focus of neuroscience research and of the National Institutes of Health has been on the formation of models of human diseases (NIH Roadmap, 2005). Overall, animal models add value in basic sciences research by allowing investigators to elucidate aspects of complex disease or mechanistic pathways. Animal models are limited by the inability to study the long-term progression of a disease and the lack of direct homology between animal systems and the human system (Woodruff and Baisden 1994). However, animal models may be useful for development and discovery of new and more effective treatments for neurological disorders (Woodruff & Baisden 1994). In many cases, animal models of neurological disease and dysfunction are used to model one aspect of the disorder whether it be behavioral, neurochemical, or neuropathological. This can be extremely useful because it can be informative about the contribution of this behavioral or neurochemical abnormality to the disease or disorder, although the entire disorder is not modeled in the animal. McKinney and Brunney (1969) proposed three criteria for validating an animal model of similar inducing conditions, similar behavioral states, and common mechanisms in an animal model. The D2priming model used in this study reaches all three of these criteria, as mentioned above.

McKinney and Brunney (1969) concluded that the higher number of criteria the model achieves means that the model has increased validity. Therefore, the model used here has increased validity relative to the psychotic state, although we have not yet shown whether there are changes in non-dopaminergic systems that are consistent with the disorder. Therefore, to research a clinical condition in humans, an animal model that does not necessarily have all aspects of the disorder can be used for a more thorough examination of the disease.

Animal Models of Psychosis

Modeling schizophrenia and/or psychosis poses several difficulties as a result of the heterogeneity of the presentation of symptoms. Animal models are used in studying schizophrenia, psychosis as an aspect of mental illness, drug-induced psychoses, and bipolar disorder that may include a psychotic component. The psychotic component of schizophrenia has garnered much attention adding to the understanding of psychosis in general. Schizophrenia is a severe and chronic mental illness affecting approximately 1% of the population. Symptoms of schizophrenia typically emerge during adolescence or early adulthood (American Psychiatric Association, 2008). Symptoms are usually classified into three categories: positive (hallucinations, delusions, thought disorganization), negative (anhedonia, social withdrawal), and cognitive (deficits in attention and memory) (Carpenter and Buchanan, 1994). Hallucinations can be auditory, visual, tactile, or olfactory in nature. Auditory hallucinations include hearing voices and sounds that are not audible to outside observers (American Psychiatric Association Diagnostic and Statistical Manual 2000). Negative symptoms include a flattened affect or lack of emotion, intonation or facial expression, as well as anhedonia

(absence of pleasure and lack of motivation or ability to follow through with plans). Clinical diagnoses recognize impaired social relationships, difficulty in maintaining selfcare, and impaired social and professional interactions as part of the disorder. Previous research suggests that alterations in several neurotransmitter systems are involved in the pathophysiological process leading to the expression of these symptoms, though no clear etiology of schizophrenia has been shown.

Other Rodent Models of Schizophrenia

Several animal models have been used to investigate aspects of schizophrenia. The importance of animal research is evident in the ability to generalize findings using animal subjects to the human health condition. Generalization of schizophrenic research from animal to human is possible through using behavioral tasks with specific task demands, testing parameters, and mechanisms of the behavioral deficits involved in the disorder. There have been several attempts to model schizophrenia using rodent models. All of these models have clinical relevance to the disorder through mimicking neurochemical abnormalities known to be present in schizophrenia. However, it is also important to realize that all of these models have weaknesses that relate to the complexity of the neurochemical aberrations in this disorder.

NMDA Receptor Model

A primary abnormality in schizophrenia is related to the glutamatergic system. The glutamate hypothesis suggests that glutamatergic dysfunction is associated with the NMDA receptor. Research has found that a glutamatergic receptor subtype, the Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor, is less responsive in schizophrenics than it is in controls (Tsai and Coyle 2002, Coyle 2006). Based on NMDA hypofunction,

researchers have focused on producing NMDA hypofunction through acute administration of phencyclidine (PCP) or ketamine, that are both noncompetitive antagonists of the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) glutamate receptor. Studies have shown that NMDA receptor hypofunction results in positive and negative symptoms similar to those found in schizophrenia as well as cognitive deficits in normal humans (Snyder 1980, Javitt and Zukin 1991, Tamminga 1998). NMDA receptors are a major subtype of glutamate receptors that mediate slow excitatory postsynaptic potentials (EPSPs) that are considered critical for the expression of behaviors including associative learning, working memory, and attention, functions that are impaired in schizophrenia (Blair et al. 2001). PCP has also been shown in rats and humans to closely mimic the positive, negative, and cognitive symptoms observed in schizophrenia (Krystal et al. 1994, Carlsson et al. 2004, Lisman et al. 2008). Neuronal synchronization, that is thought to depend partly on glutamatergic regulation over GABAergic neurons, is impaired in schizophrenia and correlates with perceptual, speech, and other cognitive processes (Spencer et al. 2003, Ford et al. 2007, Lewis et al. 2005, Mohler 2007, Gaspar et al. 2009). Using a novel object recognition paradigm, rats treated with PCP were shown to produce robust reductions in time spent with the novel object versus the familiar object, a measure of working memory (Grayson, et al. 2007). The novel object recognition task, that is used to measure working memory, was developed based on the natural propensity of rats to explore novel objects (Ennaceur and Delacour 1988). A reduction in working memory following PCP administration helps to establish some validity of the model in terms of investigating cognitive deficits that may exist in schizophrenia. This model would not withstand the criteria for face

validity as many of the symptoms of schizophrenia are subjective in nature and cannot truly be replicated in an animal model. However, glutamatergic manipulations have value as a predictive model as such manipulations induce behavioral or neurochemical changes similar to schizophrenia and are alleviated by similar therapeutic treatments.

Psychostimulant Model

Acute administration of psychostimulants is known to produce a robust increase in dopamine release, and increased dopaminergic activity as a result of psychostimulant treatment was the original basis of the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia (Duncan et al. 1999). Increases in dopamine function, as mentioned above, are known to be common in schizophrenia. In the psychostimulant model, animals are tested while under the influence of the drug to analyze behavioral changes related to robust increases in the dopamine system (Tilson & Rech 1973, Lacriox et al. 2000).

Two behavioral measures used in an effort to model schizophrenia that seem to have clinical relevance are latent inhibition and prepulse inhibition (PPI). Latent inhibition (LI) is a process by that exposure to a stimulus of little or no consequence prevents conditioned associations with that stimulus from being formed. Latent inhibition has been interpreted as a representation of the lack of the ability to ignore irrelevant information, a deficit observed in schizophrenic patients (Solomon et al. 1981, Killcross et al. 1994). Disruption in LI has been demonstrated in schizophrenia (Gray et al. 1992, 1995, Lipp et al. 1992). The operational processes can be viewed as analogous across species (Lubow and Gewritz 1995). Prepulse inhibition (PPI) is a psychophysiological index of sensorimotor gating that has been used with schizophrenic patients. PPI is defined as the reduction of the amplitude of the startle reflex (usually

the eyeblink reflex in humans) when a "prepulse" that is non-startling precedes the startle pulse (Blumenthal 1999). PPI has been found to be impaired in schizophrenic patients. For example, using treatments of amphetamine with and without DA antagonists, it was shown that the medial prefrontal cortex is involved in mediating prepulse inhibition but is not involved in latent inhibition (Lacroix et al. 2000). Thus, cortical changes proposed in schizophrenia may be modeled using PPI measurements but not LI. Although these treatments are helpful in elucidating the effects of short-term increases in DA release, they are unable to recreate the long-term dopaminergic effects seen in schizophrenia. Therefore, the acute administration of a pharmacological substance may be useful as a predictive model but does not meet the constraints for face validity or construct validity.

Neonatal Ventral Hippocampal Lesion (NVHL) Model

Likely the most prominently used model of schizophrenia has focused on neonatal damage of the ventral hippocampus in rats (Lipska et al. 1993, Chambers et al. 1996, Wan et al. 1996, Brake et al. 1999, Grecksch et al. 1999). Past results have shown that lateral ventricles are larger and that the hippocampus is smaller in volume in schizophrenics. The main objective of this model is to disrupt hippocampal development that is a hallmark of neuropathology known to be present in schizophrenia (Falkai and Bogerts 1986; Bogerts et al. 1990; Suddath et al. 1990; Eastwood and Harrison 1995; 1998; Weinberger 1999). The disruption of hippocampal development also results in the changes of the cortical and subcortical circuitry of brain areas that make connections to the hippocampal formation. These neonatal lesions are intended to involve regions of the hippocampus that directly project to the prefrontal cortex,

including the ventral hippocampus proper and ventral subiculum that corresponds to the anterior hippocampus in humans (Jay et al. 1989; Carr and Sesack 1996). These lesions produce changes in hippocampal-frontal cortex connectivity consistent with schizophrenia as well as changes in behavioral deficits in latent inhibition, prepulse inhibition, social responses, and cognitive performance (Swerdlow et al. 1996, Lipska et al. 1995, Chambers et al. 1996, Grecksch et al. 1999). Further, these changes do not emerge until after adolescence, consistent with the presentation of schizophrenia in humans (Lipska et al. 1993, Chambers et al. 1996, Becker et al. 1999, Lipska et al. 1995). The lesions result in the clear destruction of ventral portions of the hippocampus including parts of the CA1, CA2, and CA3 regions and portions of the ventral subiculum (Swerdlow et al. 2001). A major weakness of this model involves the blatant neuronal damage created by the lesion. This disconnection of neurons is not exhibited in schizophrenia and the impact of such disruption outside of the targeted effects may be yet unknown.

Comorbidity of Substance Abuse

Drug addiction is viewed as a complex neuroadaptive process through that drugs of abuse alter cellular and molecular aspects of neural function to increase or decrease the responsiveness of various behavioral effects through their mediating circuits (White 2002). The dopaminergic system is most directly implicated in the positive reinforcing effects of all drugs of abuse. The ability of addictive drugs to enhance dopamine neurotransmission, primarily in the mesolimbic dopaminergic system, has been documented widely across various classes of abused drugs (Wise and Bozarth 1987, Koob 1992, White 1996, Spanagel and Weiss 1999).

Substance Abuse in Schizophrenia

Substance abuse in schizophrenics carries consequences that further impact schizophrenic patients. Research has shown that among individuals diagnosed with schizophrenia between 33% and 66% meet the criteria for at least one substance related disorder in their lifetime (Meuser et al. 1992). Schizophrenic patients with concurrent substance abuse experience more frequent hospitalization episodes (Swofford et al. 2000). The interactions of the drugs of abuse with the neuropathology of schizophrenia exacerbate symptoms and interfere with drug treatments (Burnette et al. 1997, Dervaux et al. 2001). Therefore, substance abuse in schizophrenics complicates the proper medication of these patients (Siris et al. 1998).

Two hypotheses have been proposed to explain the increased rate of substance abuse in schizophrenics. The first hypothesis suggests that schizophrenic patients abuse psychostimulant drugs in an attempt to alleviate aspects or symptoms of the disease (Akerele and Levin 2002, Gregg et al. 2007). Studies have suggested that nicotine use may help alleviate sensory gating abnormalities and attentional deficits produced by schizophrenia (Le Duc and Mittleman 1995, Adler et al. 1998). The second hypothesis focuses on the use of drugs to relieve negative side effects of the neuroleptic treatment of the disease. Antipsychotic medications have been used in schizophrenia treatment since the early 1950s. While these medications are helpful in allaying positive symptoms, antipsychotic treatment can also lead to disabling extrapyramidal motor symptoms such as parkinsonianism, dystonia, and dyskinesia. Studies have attempted to address whether the use of psychostimulants in schizophrenic patients exacerbates extrapyramidal symptoms or is sought to alleviate those symptoms

(Dixon et al. 1991, Gao et al. 2008, Potvin et al. 2009). Results have shown that patients with a dual diagnosis of schizophrenia and substance abuse exhibit worse extra-pyramidal symptoms than either disorder singly (Duke et al. 1994, Bailey et al. 1998, Potvin et al. 2009). Clinical studies have not been able to determine the order of occurrence in the relationship between substance abuse in schizophrenics and extrapyramidal symptoms. Confounding factors include a varied dosage of antipsychotics by individual, a variety of abused drugs often within a single subject, and the potential symptoms of psychostimulant withdrawal that may mimic some of the extrapyramidal symptoms.

Another mechanism of studying the relationship between substance abuse and schizophrenia is the self-report. Within the self-reporting literature, several reasons for use have been examined: intoxication effects, social reasons, dysphoria relief, and alleviation of psychotic symptoms and to mitigate extrapyramidal symptoms. Between 35% and 95% of subjects reported using drugs or alcohol for the intoxicating effects (Dixon et al. 1991, Addington and Duchak 1997, Baker et al. 2002). Between 8% and 81% of schizophrenic patients cited social reasons as the cause for their drug use (Test et al. 1989, Dixon et al. 1991, Warner et al. 1994). Up to 86% reported using drug or alcohol to relieve dysphoria (Test et al. 1989, Dixon et al. 1994). Warner et al. 1994). In using drugs or alcohol to alleviate or cope with psychotic symptoms, results indicated that up to 42% of subjects responded affirmatively (Addington and Duchak 1997, Dixon et al. 1991, Test et al. 1898). Between 0 and 48% reported using alcohol or drugs to alleviate negative side effects of medication (Test et al. 1989, Dixon et al. 1991, Warner

et al. 1994, Gregg et al. 2007). Overall, there is no clear understanding of the full relationship of the dual diagnosis of schizophrenia and substance abuse.

Dopaminergic Mechanisms of Amphetamine

Amphetamine is an indirect dopamine agonist known to increase extracellular dopamine in the striatum and nucleus accumbens (Wise 1996). Amphetamine induces increases in dopamine overflow and prevents dopamine reuptake through inhibition of the dopamine transporter. In addition to inhibiting dopamine reuptake, amphetamine causes the release of dopamine from the presynaptic terminals (Seiden et al. 1993). Amphetamine-induced dopamine release occurs by two mechanisms: calcium-dependent vesicular release and impulse-dependent or transporter-mediated release. Impulse-dependent release is independent and has little calcium dependence that is why often amphetamine is stated to increase dopamine overflow as compared to dopamine release (Hurd and Ungerstedt 1989, Pierce and Kalivas 1997).

Amphetamine can cross the plasma membrane via lipophilic diffusion as well as being a substrate for the dopamine transporter (DAT) (Zaczek et al. 1991a, 1991b). Once inside the neuron amphetamine (AMPH) displaces dopamine from the vesicles into the cytoplasm (Sulzer and Rayport 1990). From the cytoplasm, DA can be released into the extracellular space by the dopamine transporter (Floor and Meng 1996). Studies have shown that both the depletion of dopamine from secretory vesicles and the reversal of DAT-mediated transport are necessary for the effect of amphetamine on overflow in dopaminergic neurons (Jones et al. 1998).

Behavioral Sensitization

One common behavioral test to analyze the effects of amphetamine on behavioral activation is behavioral locomotor sensitization. Behavioral sensitization is the progressive and long-lasting augmentation of certain behaviors following repetitive stimulant drug treatment (Segal and Mandell 1974, Kalivas and Stewart 1991, Robinson and Berridge 1993). Sensitized behaviors may occur with a shorter latency, higher intensity, or at a lower dose following repeated treatment with stimulant drugs including amphetamine or cocaine (Segal et al. 1980). Behavioral sensitization is a two-step process, development and expression. The development or initiation of amphetamine sensitization involves dopamine D1 and glutamate receptor activation within the ventral tegmentum and substantia nigra (Kalivas and Alesdatter 1993, Wolf et al. 1995, Bijou et al. 1996). Expression is defined as the neuronal alteration arising from the initiating process that mediates the augmented behavioral response and that is mediated by the nucleus accumbens (Wolf 1998). Alterations include an increase in the non-NMDA glutamate AMPA receptor surface expression resulting from dopaminergic modulation in the nucleus accumbens following psychostimulant sensitization (Pierce 1996, Boudreau and Wolf 2005). Measurements of locomotor activity including vertical, horizontal and rotational are typically used in experiments analyzing behavioral sensitization.

Behavioral changes resulting from addictive drugs resemble behavioral responses elicited by natural reward, though the reward of addictive drugs has the power to supplant all other goals, making the drug reward a higher priority to the organism than all other rewards including food. The rewarding properties of addictive drugs putatively require an increased dopaminergic release from midbrain ventral

tegmental area neurons onto nerves in the nucleus accumbens (Wise and Bozarth 1987, Koob and Bloom 1988, Di Chiara 1998). Ventral tegmental area dopamine projections to other forebrain areas such as the prefrontal cortex and the amygdala also play a role in shaping drug-taking behaviors (Everett et al. 1999). Structural similarities in the nucleus accumbens shell and amygdala have led some to postulate the nucleus accumbens shell to be an extension of the amygdala, the region of the brain thought to be responsible for emotional and rewarding behaviors (Everritt et al. 1991, Meredith et al. 2002). Despite the varying targets and chemical composition of the various classes of addictive drugs, they all cause an increase in synaptic dopamine within the nucleus accumbens. In order for addictive drugs to produce reward, they must utilize dopamine in a similar manner (Kelley and Berridge 2002). It has been hypothesized that addictive drugs have competitive advantages over natural stimuli by producing far greater levels of dopamine release resulting in prolonged stimulation (Kelley and Berridge 2002). Modeling Substance Abuse in Animals

Psychostimulants possess the ability to stimulate DA transmission in the nucleus accumbens (Di Chiara 2002). Studies using amphetamine have shown that the dopamine system is critically important for development and expression of behavioral sensitization (Kalivas et al. 1993a, 1993b). Acute or repeated amphetamine exposure results in augmented dopamine overflow in the striatum and nucleus accumbens (NAcc) *in vivo* (Wilkinson et al. 1993) and *in vitro* (Castandeda et al. 1988). Local administration of amphetamine in the NAcc in animals previously sensitized to amphetamine also produces increased DA overflow in NAcc and striatum (Pierce and Kalivas 1996).

Dopamine System

Dopamine is estimated to constitute up to 80% of the total catecholamine content in the brain, but the total number of dopaminergic cells is relatively small (Lindvall et al. 1984, Williams and Goldman-Rakic 1998). Three major divisions of dopaminergic pathways innervate the forebrain and basal ganglia (Bjorklund and Lindvall 1984, Lewis et al. 1998, Tzchentke 2001). These cell groups are designated as A8, A9, and A10 and generally corresponds to the DA cells of the substantia nigra (A9), ventral tegmental area (A10), and the retrorubral area (A8) (Porrino and Goldman-Rakic 1982, Williams and Goldman-Rakic 1998). Dopaminergic neurons are functionally involved in higher motor execution, goal-directed behaviors including motivation, reward learning, prediction, and working memory (Egan and Weinberger 1997, Lewis et al. 1998). Impairment of these neurons results in neurological and psychiatric disorders (Goldman-Rakic 1998).

Ascending dopaminergic fibers innervate a large number of subcortical and cortical structures including the neocortex. Structures of the basal ganglia, particularly the striatum, receive the most dense dopaminergic input (Boyson et al. 1986). Within the neocortex, sensory areas are sparsely innervated while cortical areas such as the primary motor cortex, prefrontal cortex, and anterior cingulate cortex are more densely innervated by dopaminergic neurons (Berger and Gaspar 1994, Durstewitz et al. 1999). This innervation reflects the role of dopamine in motivation, reward, motor function, and executive function as compared to involvement in sensory systems.

There are several major dopaminergic pathways. The **nigrostriatal system** originates in the substantia nigra pars compacta, the ventral tegmental area, and the

retrorubral nucleus and projects to the caudate, putamen, globus pallidus, and nucleus accumbens. The nigrostriatal pathway is important in motor control (Feldman et al. 1996). The **mesolimbic system** contains the circuitry involved in reward and originates in the ventral tegmental area, substantia nigra, and retrorubral nucleus and projects to the septum, amygdala, hippocampus, nucleus of the diagonal band, anterior olfactory nucleus, nucleus accumbens, and olfactory tubercles (Fuxe 1985). The **mesocortical pathway** originates in the ventral tegmental area, projects to the frontal cortex, and is essential to the normal cognitive function of the prefrontal cortex (Feldman et al. 1986).

The majority of neurons in the NAcc are GABAergic and they project predominately to the ventral tegmental area (VTA) and the ventral pallidum, regions thought to be involved in the rewarding effects of most drugs of abuse (Self 2004). The GABA system modulates both dopamine and glutamate transmission within the NAcc and its areas of projection. Glutamatergic neurons converge on the same dendritic spines of medium-size spiny GABA neurons as dopaminergic afferents without making direct connections between the glutamatergic and dopaminergic projections (Segovia and Mora 2001). Pulvirenti and colleagues (1991) suggest that glutamate from the NAcc modulates stimulation at the level of the NAcc by interacting with the integrated output of the region.

Dopamine Receptors

All known dopamine receptors are G-protein coupled, slow acting metabotropic receptors that functionally modulate other receptor systems and/or ion channels (Missale et al. 1998). Activation of these receptors, through intracellular cascades, modulates properties of synapses and postsynaptic neurons. There are five dopamine

receptor subtypes belonging to two families: the D1-like receptors and the D2-like receptors. Functionally, these two types of receptors have opposing actions in the cellular cascade. The D1-like receptors activate adenylyl cyclase resulting in an increase of cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP). The D2-like receptors inhibit adenylyl cyclase resulting in a decreased concentration of cAMP (Greengard et al. 1999). The D1-like receptor family contains the D1 and D5 dopamine receptors, while the D2-like receptor family contains the D2, D3, and D4 dopamine receptors.

The distribution of the D1 receptors has been mapped by in vitro autoradiography using several agonists and antagonists. The greatest densities of D1 receptors are found in the caudate, putamen, NAcc, and olfactory tubercle. Lower densities are found in the neocortex, thalamus, cerebellum, hippocampus, septum, and hypothalamus (Boyson et al. 1986, Dawson et al. 1986, Wamsley et al. 1992, Duffy et al. 2000).

Activation of D1 dopamine receptors is necessary for the induction of sensitization by amphetamine in the VTA (Vezina 1996). Sensitization produced by amphetamine in the ventral tegmental area is blocked by systemic injection of the D1 antagonist SCH23390 (Vezina 1996). Pre-amphetamine administration of selective dopamine D1 or D2 antagonists have been shown to block amphetamine sensitization, although the D1 receptor has been shown to play a more important role than the D2, although this has not been thoroughly investigated (Vezina and Stewart 1989; 1996). Dopamine D1 receptors have a higher affinity for dopamine than D2 receptors (Seeman and Van Tol 1994). Systemic pretreatment with the D1 receptor antagonist SCH23390 inhibited the locomotor activating effects of repeated psychostimulant administration and prevented the development of sensitization (Hummel and Unterald 2002). Results

have also shown location specificity in the role of D1 receptors in sensitization. It appears that noncortical D1 receptors are more important than cortical D1 receptors in the development of sensitization, intracortical administration of D1 antagonist failed to significantly affect psychostimulant induced locomotor activity or stereotypy, whereas D1 antagonist treatment within the ventral tegmental area has been shown to block sensitization (Beyer and Steketee 2002; Vezina 1996).

Dopamine D2 receptors are most densely located in the caudate, putamen, nucleus accumbens, olfactory tubercle, substantia nigra pars compacta, and the glomular layer of the olfactory bulbs with less dense populations in the central nucleus of the amygdala, lateral septum, superior colliculus, molecular layer of the hippocampus, and the entorhinal cortex (Boyson et al. 1986, Pinto and Sesack 2008).

Amphetamine induced sensitization may involve the D2 receptor both presynaptically at the autoreceptor, a receptor located on the presynaptic neuron terminal that serves as a part of a feedback loop in signal transduction, and at postsynaptic D2 receptors. Daily amphetamine treatment has been shown to produce a subsensitization of dopamine D2 autoreceptors in the ventral tegmental area (Seutin et al. 1991, Wolf et al. 1993, Muscat et al. 1996). The subsensitization of D2 autoreceptors occurs in conjunction with an increased activity of A10 dopaminergic neurons in the ventral tegmental area (Pierce et al. 1995). The increased activity in A10 neurons may result in priming of postsynaptic dopamine neurons (Ackerman and White 1992, Henry et al. 2000, Hopf et al. 2007). In response to amphetamine treatment, the postsynaptic signal transduction is linearly correlated to extracellular dopamine concentration. It has been suggested that at lower dopamine concentrations presynaptic binding may be

dominate to postsynaptic binding (Kuczenski and Segal 1989, Ren et al. 2009). Systemic administration of selective D2 antagonist (Vezina, 1989) has been shown to not affect amphetamine sensitization, and a less selective D2-like antagonist, eticlopride, that was also used in this study, has been infused into the ventral tegmental area and also shown to block amphetamine sensitization. However, there are no data on the systemic effects of eticlopride on amphetamine sensitization or its effects on dopamine overflow.

An important issue of the effects of neonatal guinpirole is the pre- and postsynaptic effects of this drug treatment. Quinpirole is a dopamine D2/D3 agonist and D2 as well as D3 receptor are located both pre- and post-synaptically. Blockade of postsynaptic receptors is generally considered to be the primary effect of neuroleptic administration and will result in a reduction of dopaminergic transmission. For some dopaminergic neurons, this immediate effect is opposed by compensatory feedback mechanisms (Galloway 1990). The blockade of presynaptic autoreceptors by neuroleptics results in an increased synthesis and release of dopamine from the dopaminergic terminal, thereby overcoming the blockade of dopamine receptors produced by the antagonist. There are also long-loop neuronal feedback pathways that can be involved. For example, during periods of enhanced postsynaptic dopamine receptor stimulation, these loops exert negative feedback effects on dopamine cell firing, whereas the blockade of postsynaptic receptors would produce a compensatory increase in dopamine cell firing (Benkert et al. 1992). Within the mesolimbic system, data have shown that either the D1 agonist SKF 38393 or the D2 agonist quinpirole can increase extracellular dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens in a dose-dependent

fashion without affecting dopamine levels in the ventral tegmental area (Rahman and McBride 2001). Further, coadministration of SKF 38393 and quinpirole produce a concomitant reduction in the extracellular levels of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens as well as in the ventral tegmental area. Blockade of either the D1 or D2 receptor was sufficient to reverse the effect of the coinfusion of agonists. These results suggest that the activation of dopamine D1 or D2-like receptors are independently able to regulate local terminal dopamine release in the nucleus accumbens, but stimulation of both subtypes is required for activation of the negative feedback pathway to the ventral tegmental area (Rahman and McBride 2001).

Sex Differences

Studies of sex differences in schizophrenia have concluded that women tend to have a less intrusive course of illness including less hospitalizations and better social functioning than men (Mueser and McGurk 2004). Studies have suggested that the later onset of schizophrenia in women is resultant of the effects of estrogen on D2 receptors in the central nervous system (CNS). Studies have shown that estrogen treatment reduced the affinity of sulpiride to the D2 receptor, leading to the conclusion that estrogen treatment reduced the sensitivity of D2 receptors (Häfner et al. 1991a). Studies have also revealed an elevated vulnerability threshold to schizophrenia in women that persists until menopause, implicating the modulatory role of estrogen on the dopamine system (Häfner et al. 1998). In female schizophrenic patients, a correlation was found that the higher the estradiol level, the more 'normal functioning' the behavior was judged to be (Reicher-Rössler et al. 1994). Additionally, it has been suggested that estrogen might act on NMDA receptors as well, both in the menstrual cycles and over a

longer period of time. This effect could contribute to the protective effect of estrogen in schizophrenia given the implications of the involvement of glutamate within the disease (Woolley and McEwen 1994).

Sex Hormones and Psychostimulant Abuse

Previous studies have indicated gender differences in the neurobiological response to psychostimulants and in behavioral sensitization (Becker 1999, Bowman et al. 1999). Sex differences are present for all phases of drug abuse: initiation, escalation of use, progression to addiction, withdrawal, and relapse (Haaren and Meyer 1991, Van Etten et al. 1999, Lynch and Carroll 2002, Carroll et al. 2004). While the rates of drug abuse are currently lower in women than men, once addicted to a drug, women show more difficulty in cessation of use than men (Lynch and Carroll 2002, Breese et al. 2005). In women, the subjective effects of psychostimulants, particularly d-amphetamine, vary across the menstrual cycle. Subjective positive effects including euphoria, increased energy, and intellectual efficiency were reported when estradiol levels are higher than progesterone levels during the follicular phase (Becker and Hu 2008). Administration of estradiol during the follicular phase further increases the subjective effects of d-amphetamine (Justice and De Wit 2000).

The acute behavioral response to psychomotor stimulants in rodents reflects both the sex difference (including locomotor response, self-administration, and drug sensitivity) and the modulatory role of gonadal hormones in males and females (Becker and Beer 1986, Van Hatesveldt et al. 1989, Basser et al. 2000). Behavioral sensitization can also be differentially affected by gonadal steroid hormones. For example, females exhibit more robust sensitization than do intact males (Robinson et al.

1981, Robinson et al. 1982, Camp and Robinson 1988, Forgie and Stewart 1994). Following ovariectomy of female rats, the expression of sensitization to AMPH is attenuated or completely suppressed (Robinson et al. 1982, Sicar and Kim 1999). Estradiol treatment in ovariectomized rats enhances locomotor sensitization induced by AMPH or cocaine (Peris et al. 1991; Forgie and Stewart 1994). Studies have shown that female rats exhibit increased locomotor response to amphetamine treatment versus male rats (Becker 1999, Melnick and Dow-Edwards 2001). Female rats also show greater and more prolonged stereotyped behavior following amphetamine treatment and more amphetamine induced rotational behavior than males (Beatty and Holzer 1978, Robinson et al. 1980).

There are no sex differences in the number or binding characteristics of striatal D2 DA receptors in adult rats (Hruska and Dilbergeld 1980, Levesque and Di Paolo 1988, Teicher et al. 2003). Striatal D2 receptor density increases at the onset of puberty but is decreased significantly by adulthood in males. Periadolescent females show less overproduction and pruning of striatal D1 and D2 receptors (Andersen and Teicher 2000). There are sex differences in basal and amphetamine (AMPH)-stimulated striatal DA release in the absence of gonadal hormones. Results from *in vivo* microdialysis in freely moving rats show that the basal extracellular concentration of DA is twice as high in the striatum of castrated males as in ovariectomized females (Xiao and Becker 1994). Enduring differences in D1 receptor density may play a role in the greater incidence of substance abuse in males given the implied role of the D1 system in the development of addiction (Naldonado et al. 1993).

In cultured striatal neurons from embryonic mice, estradiol administration induces changes in adenylate cyclase activity that are stimulated by D1 and D2 dopamine receptor agonists by modifying the G-protein coupling process (Maus et al. 1989a, Maus et al. 1989b). Administration of physiological concentrations of estradiol to striatal slices directly stimulated DA release *in vitro* (Becker 1990). Estradiol works directly on the striatum to induce changes in DA release and DA receptor activity. Further studies have indicated that the effect of estradiol on striatal DA release may be mediated indirectly by the effect of estradiol on GABAergic striatal neurons (Becker and Hu 2008). Estrus Cycle and Psychostimulants

It has been hypothesized that dopamine function in females may be influenced significantly by the fluctuation of ovarian hormones throughout the estrus cycle (Becker 1990). The estrus cycle of the female rat has three stages: proestrus, diestrus, and estrus. This cycle typically recurs every 4 days (Marcondes et al. 2002). Ovarian hormone fluctuations induce variation in behavioral and neurochemical responses to psychostimulant drugs. Behavioral estrus occurs simultaneous to vaginal estrus and therefore an increased estrogen level is present during this time as well a behavioral estrus. During behavioral estrus in female rats, amphetamine-induced dopamine release in the striatum and amphetamine behaviors are greater than on others days of the estrus cycle (Becker et al. 1980, Becker et al. 1982, Becker et al. 1989, Becker et al. 2001). Studies have shown that a greater behavioral response is elicited from female rats with stimulation of the striatal dopamine system during behavioral estrus as compared to diestrus (Becker et al. 1982, Kalivas and Stewart 1991).
Goals of This Study

Research on psychosis has indicated a high comorbidity of substance abuse and psychosis. In those cases with comorbid substance abuse and schizophrenia the drugs of choice are often psychostimulants and more specifically amphetamine or nicotine. Therefore, further investigations into amphetamine sensitization in a putative model of psychosis may offer insight of the mechanisms involved in comorbidity.

CHAPTER 2

METHODS

This study uses neonatal quinpirole treatments from postnatal days 1-11 to produce life-long changes consistent with some aspects of schizophrenia. Past studies by Kostrzewa and colleagues (Nowak et al. 2001) have shown that neonatal quinpirole treatment results in long-term increases in sensitivity of D2-like receptors. Adult animals were then treated with either SCH23390 (a D1 receptor antagonist) or eticlopride (a D2like receptor antagonist) in an amphetamine behavioral sensitization design, with animals given amphetamine or saline every other day over a 14-day period for a total of 7 drug treatments. Approximately 15 mins before each amphetamine or saline treatment, a D1 antagonist (SCH23390), D2 antagonist (eticlopride), or saline will be given to produce blockade of D1 and D2 receptors.

One day after sensitization is complete, a guide cannula will be surgically implanted. Six to 8 days later, an amphetamine or saline challenge will be given. However, a microdialysis probe will be placed into the nucleus accumbens core during this challenge. On the challenge, animals will be given the same antagonist and adulthood drug treatment that they received during behavioral testing on the challenge.

The goals of this study are to determine the role of the dopamine D1 and D2 receptors in the amphetamine-induced sensitization of rats neonatally treated with quinpirole. Additionally, the study investigated potential sex effects of treatments on females versus males. It is hypothesized based on past findings (Vezina 1989) that a dopamine D1 antagonist would block amphetamine behavioral sensitization and no

increase in locomotor activity would be seen following amphetamine sensitization. In terms of the effects on dopamine overflow, it is hypothesized that D1 antagonism will completely block the effects of amphetamine on dopamine overflow based on past findings (Vezina 1996).

Additionally, a D2/D3 antagonist was hypothesized to reduce sensitization versus saline treated control animals, although not to the level of animals given a D1 antagonist. The D2 receptor has been shown to not play a role in amphetamine sensitization (Vezina 1996, others), but antagonism of the D3 receptor has been shown to block amphetamine sensitization (Richtand et al. 2003). Based on this finding, it is hypothesized that antagonist treatment wit the D2/D3 antagonist eticlopride will reduce sensitization although not to the levels of D1 antagonism. It is hypothesized that pretreatment with eticlopride will actually potentiate the effects of amphetamine on dopamine overflow based on the fact that eticlopride will block the D2 and D3 autoreceptors presynaptically, that should **enhance** dopamine release at the synapse. Information in Figure 1 describes the treatment groups for this study, beginning with neonatal treatment and including antagonist treatment as well as adult drug treatment. Neonatal treatments were given once daily P1-11. The antagonist treatments were administered approximately 15 minutes prior to the adult drug treatment. Following adult drug treatment (10 minutes after administration), animals were placed in locomotor arenas for testing.



Figure 1 Diagram of drug treatments throughout the study. White boxes denote treatments during neonatal periods, prior to weaning. Gray boxes denote treatments involved in behavioral sensitization and microdialysis. AMPH denotes treatment with d-amphetamine.

Subjects and Housing of Animals

A total of 10 untimed pregnant female Sprague Dawley rats were ordered from Harlan, Inc. (Indianapolis, IN). Once animals arrived, they were housed separately for 7 days. Throughout the experiment animals were kept in an Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care (AAALAC) accredited colony with a 12h light/dark cycle. All behavioral testing and neurochemical sampling occurred during the light cycle. After an initial quarantine period, the pregnant rats were housed singly until the pups were born, that was counted as postnatal day (P)0. Following birth, pups were housed with the female dams until P21. On P22, rats were weaned and housed in groups according to their neonatal treatments throughout adolescence and during amphetamine sensitization behavioral testing. Upon surgical implantation of the guide cannula, rats were singly housed for the remaining duration of the experiment.

Neonatal Drug Treatment

Animals were injected with either quinpirole (1 mg/kg) or saline at a total volume of 1% of their body weight during treatment, P1-11. Following injections, the needle was left in place for approximately 5 seconds to avoid loss of drug as a result of capillary action resulting from needle removal.

<u>Drugs</u>

All drug were administered through intraperitoneal (ip) injection, with the exception of postoperative ketoprofen that was given by intramuscular injection. For neonatal drug treatment and the yawning test quinpirole HCI (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) was administered. A dose of 1.0 mg/kg of the D2/D3 agonist quinpirole (or saline) was injected intraperitoneally (ip) for neonatal treatment. Previous studies have shown

this dose to be sufficient to produce an increase in dopamine D2 receptor sensitivity that will persist throughout the animal's lifetime (Kostrzewa et al. 1991, 1993, 1995). During behavioral sensitization a dose of 1.0 mg/kg d-amphetamine injected ip (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) was administered every other day over a 14-day period to adult rats. Previous data indicated that a dose of 1.0 mg/kg amphetamine was sufficient to produce increased dopaminergic overflow in animals neonatally treated with quinpirole. Additionally, this dose of amphetamine has been shown to produce behavioral sensitization (Hooks et al. 1992, Cadoni et al. 2002, Vanderschuren et al. 2003). For receptor antagonism, the D1 antagonist SCH 23390 (7-Chloro-8-hydroxy-3-methyl-1phenyl-2,3,4,5-tetrahydro-1H-3-benzazepine hydrochloride) was administered at a dose of 0.1 mg/kg (ip injection), that has been shown to be effective at blocking sensitization to a dose of 1.0 mg/kg amphetamine (Vezina 1996). The D1 antagonist, SCH 23390 has a >1000 times higher affinity at the D1 receptor as compared to the D2 receptor (Seeman and Grigoriadis, 1987). For D2 antagonism, a dose of 1.0 mg/kg eticlopride was administered. This eticlopride dose has been shown to block behavioral changes produced by 1.0 mg/kg doses of amphetamine (Vezina 1996). Eticlopride has >2.5x10⁶ more affinity at the D2 receptor than the D1 receptor (Vezina 1996). The vehicle for all drug preparations was a 0.9% saline solution.

Yawning Behavior

At approximately P60, a time point equating to young adulthood in the rat, animals were tested for yawning behavior. Yawning has been shown to be a dopamine D2-like receptor mediated event. Studies have shown that this behavior may be mediated either by D2 (Cooper et al. 1989) or the D3 receptor subtype (Collins et al.

2005), although both of these receptors are members of the D2 receptor family. Prior to testing, all animals were administered quinpirole (100 μ g/kg) and placed in an inverted cage without bedding. Bedding can result in chewing behavior that interferes with the observance and expression of the yawning behavior. Previous work indicated this dose of quinpirole resulted in the most robust yawning response within a 1-hr period for each subject (Nowak et al. 2001). An observer blind to treatment condition observed the behavior for the period of 1 hour.

Habituation to the Locomotor Arena

Beginning at approximately 61 days of age, animals began habituation to the locomotor arena. For habituation, animals were placed in the locomotor arena for 10 minutes every 2nd day for 1 week. Immediately before each habituation session rats were administered an ip injection of saline. Animals were injected with saline to control for any locomotor effect that may exist as a result of the stress produced by the injection.

Behavioral Sensitization

Behavioral sensitization began approximately 2 days after the last habituation session. For each sensitization trial, approximately 10 minutes before injection of saline or amphetamine, rats were injected with the D1 receptor antagonist SCH23390, the D2 receptor antagonist eticlopride, or saline. Ten minutes before placement in the arena, rats were administered with amphetamine (1.0 mg/kg) or saline based on group assignment. Once in the arena, horizontal activity was monitored for 10 minutes using an automated behavioral scanning system (AnyMaze, Stoelting Co, Dale Wood, IL). For horizontal activity measurements, the AnyMaze software digitally superimposes a 5

x 5 cm grid on the floor of the arena. Each time an animal crosses a line on the grid it is counted as a horizontal activity count. The total number of activity counts for each 10-min trial provided a quantification of the total horizontal activity.

As an additional behavioral measure turning behavior, both clockwise and counterclockwise was analyzed. Previous work has shown that rats demonstrate a drug-induced turning preference that is consistent in direction and correlated with the magnitude of turning when rats are retested with the same dose of the same drug (Becker et al. 1982, Glick et al. 1983). Turning behavior has been shown to be an effective measure of striatal function lending some additional information to the current study design (Robinson 1984).

Surgical Procedure for Implantation of Guide Cannula

On the day following the completion of amphetamine behavioral sensitization, a guide cannula (Bioanalytical Systems, Lafayette, IN) was surgically implanted, aimed at the nucleus accumbens core. Animals were first injected ip with a mixture of ketamine and xylazine for surgery to allow placement of the animal into the stereotaxic frame. However, the ratio of the ketamine/xylazine mixture was different based on the sex of the animal. Males were injected with a mixture of 60 mg/kg ketamine: 8 mg/kg xylazine and females were injected with a mixture of 50 mg/kg ketamine: 10 mg/kg xylazine. These different doses helped to account for potential differences in metabolism of the anesthetic agents between male and female rats and to maintain proper levels of anesthesia during surgery (Zambricki and Dalecy, 2004). After the animal was anesthetized, the head was shaved and placed into the ear bars of a Kopf (Kopf Instruments, Inc., Tunjunga, CA) stereotaxic frame, and the nose of the animal was

inserted into a Kopf stereotaxic mask (Model 906, Kopf Instruments, Inc., Tunjunga, CA). The mask was connected to an anesthesia machine (JD Medical VT-100, Phoenix, AZ) that delivered an isoflurane/O2 mixture (1-1.5%) at a rate of 2 L/min. An incision was made on the midline of the scalp and the covering connective tissue removed from the skull. A small hole was drilled through the skull at the following coordinates relative to Bregma: Anterior/Posterior = +1.0 mm, Medial/Lateral = +/-1.2mm. The guide cannula was inserted through this opening to a dorsal level of 6 mm below bregma. These coordinates, taken from the stereotaxic atlas of Paxinos and Watson (1986) correspond to the dorsal location of the nucleus accumbens core. Three other small burr holes were drilled for the anchor screws and screws were attached to the skull. Dental acrylic was mixed (1.0 g powder, 2.0 mL methyl methacrylate) and poured onto the skull and around the anchor screws to secure the cannula in place. Once the acrylic was dry, the incision was sutured closed and wound clips were placed over the sutures. After the wound was closed, the animal was removed from the stereotaxic frame and placed in an empty polycarbonate cage on a heating pad. Additionally, to ease postoperative discomfort, all animals were injected intramuscular with ketoprofen (5 mg/kg) and 10 cc of saline to replenish fluids lost during the surgical procedure. The animals were allowed to recover and returned to their home cage once ambulatory. Following microdialysis, the brains were analyzed by dissection for proper probe placement. Animals with incorrect probe placement were not included in the results.

Estrus Cycle

On each day of testing as well as on the day of microdialysis, the state of estrus cycle of female rats was verified. A sample of cells was taken from the animal's vaginal lumen using a saline-moistened cotton swab. The sample was placed on a slide and analyzed under a microscope (Olympus microscope BH series). The stage of the estrus cycle was used as a variable in initial analysis of locomotor activity and dopamine overflow to determine if the stage of the estrus cycle impacted locomotor activity and/or dopamine overflow in the nucleus accumbens.

Microdialysis and Amphetamine Challenge

Seven-10 days after amphetamine sensitization was complete, a microdialysis pin probe (Bioanaltyical, Lafayette, IN) was implanted through the guide cannula with 2.0 mm of active membrane exposed. Prior to insertion of the probe, it was washed with artificial CSF for a period of 1 hour. Once the animal was attached to the probe, artificial CSF [145 mM sodium chloride, 2.7 mM potassium chloride, 1.0 mM magnesium chloride, 1.2 mM calcium chloride, 2.0 mM sodium phosphate at a pH of 7.4, Fisher Scientific] was perfused continuously at 2.0 µl/min through the dialysis probe for the duration of the procedure. Baseline samples were collected at 20-min intervals for 2 hours prior to drug administration. Following the baseline samples, rats were injected ip with saline, SCH 23390, or eticlopride, matching the antagonist treatment during sensitization. After the baseline period, d-amphetamine sulfate was injected using a cumulative dosing procedure similar to that used by Schad et al. (1996). Over the next four 20 minute intervals, rats were given an injection of the following doses of d-amphetamine in this order: 0.1 mg/kg, 0.4 mg/kg, 1.0 mg/kg, and 1.5 mg/kg. This

application results in a cumulative dose of 3.0 mg/kg of amphetamine by the end of the drug administration. Samples were collected every 20 min throughout drug treatment and 0.1 M perchloric acid was added to each vial to prevent catecholamine degradation. Samples were stored at -80 degrees C for later analysis.

HPLC Analysis

In preparation for analysis, several concentrations of dopamine (DA), 3,4 dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC), homovanillic acid (HVA), and norepinephrine (NE) were prepared in order to construct a standard curve from that the concentrations of catecholamines could be calculated. Before analysis, samples were thawed. Samples were injected into vials for analysis using an autosampler (ESA, Chelmsford, MA). The autosampler injected 40 µl of each sample onto the detection column allowing the sample to separate into its constituents that cleared the column at specific retention times. The area of each target peak was compared to the standard curve to calculate the concentration for each compound. The baseline concentrations of DA, DOPAC, HVA, and NE were all calculated in picograms (pg) per 10 µl. For microdialysis of all compounds following drug treatment, the percentage of baseline was calculated based on the concentration of the target compound at each time point.

Statistical Analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was the primary statistical test with a Fischer's post–hoc test used for statistical analysis of all significant interactions. The statistical significance was set at p<0.05 for all analyses. In the research design, there were four independent variables: neonatal drug treatment (between subjects, 2 levels: quinpirole or saline); antagonist treatment (between subjects, 3 levels: SCH23390, eticlopride, or

saline) adulthood drug treatment (between subjects, 2 levels: amphetamine or saline) and sex (between subjects, 2 levels: male or female). Regarding microdialysis, the time points were used as a repeated measure for the ANOVA analysis with regard to drug treatment (neonatal, antagonist, and adult drug treatment) and expressed as a percentage of baseline levels. Baseline levels were calculated by averaging the dopamine overflow concentrations of the three samples from the last hour of baseline collection. The drug treatment samples were then calculated as a percentage of the baseline with each animal calculated independently. For this analysis, a $2 \times 2 \times 3 \times 9$ four-way ANOVA was initially used, with sex dropped as a variable when no sex differences were found. Table 1 outlines the subject numbers and treatments for the duration of the study. Table 1 Numbers and sexes of subjects and the treatment groups for treatment throughout the study design. Neonatal treatments were given P1-11. The antagonist treatments were administered during adulthood on behavioral testing days and on the day of microdialysis.

Subjects	Neonatal treatment	Antagonist treatment	Adult drug treatment
8 Males, 8 Females	Saline	Saline	Saline
8 Males, 8 Females	Saline	Saline	Amphetamine
8 Males, 8 Females	Quinpirole	Saline	Saline
8 Males, 8 Females	Quinpirole	Saline	Amphetamine
8 Males, 8 Females	Saline	SCH23390	Saline
8 Males, 8 Females	Saline	SCH23390	Amphetamine
8 Males, 8 Females	Quinpirole	SCH23390	Saline
8 Males, 8 Females	Quinpirole	SCH23390	Amphetamine
8 Males, 8 Females	Saline	Eticlopride	Saline
8 Males, 8 Females	Saline	Eticlopride	Amphetamine
8 Males, 8 Females	Quinpirole	Eticlopride	Saline
8 Males, 8 Females	Quinpirole	Eticlopride	Amphetamine

CHAPTER 3

RESULTS

Amphetamine Sensitization

Horizontal Activity

A repeated measures five-way ANOVA was used as the primary statistical measure. There were a total of five factors in the experimental design: sex (2 levels: male, female), neonatal drug treatment (2 levels: quinpirole, saline), antagonist treatment (3 levels: saline, SCH23390, eticlopride), adult drug treatment (2 levels: amphetamine, saline), and day of testing (repeated measure: day 1, day 7). Subjects were behaviorally tested for 7 days, but analysis included only days 1 and 7 to compare the beginning and end of drug treatment. The analysis of the microdialysis experiments revealed no sex differences and data were consolidated over the sex variable. Across all behavioral analyses there were no significant effects of estrus cycle stage; therefore, data analyses were collapsed across that variable. A 2 (sex) X 2 (neonatal drug treatment) x 2 (adulthood drug testing) x 2 (day of testing) x 3 (antagonist treatment) five-way ANOVA revealed significant main effects for antagonist treatment, F(1,143) =121.21, p<0.001, adult drug treatment, F(1,143) = 35.19, p<0.001, and day of treatment, F(1, 143) = 4.90, p<0.029. There were six significant two-way interactions: neonatal drug treatment x day of testing, F(1,143) = 4.867, p<0.029, antagonist treatment x day of testing, F(2, 143) = 10.65, p<0.001, adult drug treatment x day of testing, F(1, 143) =4.39, p<0.001, neonatal drug treatment x antagonist treatment, F(2, 143) = 6.70, p < 0.002, neonatal drug treatment x adult drug treatment F(1, 143) = 12.63, p < 0.001, and antagonist treatment x adult drug treatment, F(2, 143) = 15.96, p<0.001. There

were also two significant three-way interactions of neonatal drug treatment x antagonist treatment x adult drug treatment, F(2, 143) = 3.10, p<0.048 and sex x neonatal treatment x antagonist F(2,143) = 2.844, p<0.043. Table 2 indicates treatment codes for analysis.

Neonatal treatment	Antagonist Treatment	Adult Drug Treatment	Group Abbreviation
Saline	Saline	Saline	SSS
Saline	Saline	Amphetamine	SSA
Quinpirole	Saline	Saline	QSS
Quinpirole	Saline	Amphetamine	QSA
Saline	Eticlopride	Saline	SES
Saline	Eticlopride	Amphetamine	SEA
Quinpirole	Eticlopride	Saline	QES
Quinpirole	Eticlopride	Amphetamine	QEA
Saline	SCH23390	Saline	S1S
Saline	SCH23390	Amphetamine	S1A
Quinpirole	SCH23390	Saline	Q1S
Quinpirole	SCH23390	Amphetamine	Q1A

Table 2 Treatment codes and abbreviations for groups.

Analysis of the significant three-way interaction of neonatal drug treatment x antagonist treatment x adult drug treatment revealed that Group QSA demonstrate higher levels of activity than all other groups across both days of analysis. This finding demonstrates that neonatal quinpirole treatment produced a significant enhancement of the horizontal activity response to amphetamine, and this was blocked by either SCH 23390 or eticlopride. Analysis of the significant three-way interaction of sex x neonatal drug treatment x antagonist showed that SCH23390 and eticlopride were both effective at blocking amphetamine sensitization in males, but in females only SCH 23390 was effective, as Group SSA and SEA were equivalent at days 1 and 7 and both of these groups were significantly higher than controls (Group SSS), figures 2 and 3. Therefore, it appears that males demonstrate an increased sensitivity to a D2-like antagonist as compared to females. Of course, this conclusion should be treated with some caution because only one dose of each antagonist was tested.

Analysis of the significant two-way interactions revealed that neonatal guinpirole treatment produced a significant increase in horizontal activity on day 7 as compared to day 1. SCH 23390 produced a significant decrease in activity compared to controls on days 1 and 7, whereas eticlopride actually produced a significant increase in horizontal activity compared to controls at days 1 and 7. Amphetamine produced a significant increase in horizontal activity at day 7 as compared to day 1. SCH 23390 was more effective at blocking the effects of neonatal quinpirole treatment than eticlopride, likely due to eticlopride's blockade of inhibitory D2-like autoreceptors. Neonatal quinpirole treatment enhanced the locomotor activity response to amphetamine compared to animals given neonatal saline. Finally, SCH23390 was more effective at blocking the effects of amphetamine compared to eticlopride, as expected, and this is supported by past work (Vezina, 1996). Analysis of the significant main effects revealed that SCH23390 reduced activity levels more effectively than eticlopride treatment and also prevented amphetamine-induced sensitization, supporting previous literature (Vezina 1996). Finally analysis of the significant main effect of adulthood drug treatment revealed that d-amphetamine significantly increased horizontal locomotor activity across days of testing as compared to saline controls, as expected. In sum, it appears that the

D1 antagonist SCH 23390 was effective at blocking amphetamine sensitization and producing locomotor hypoactivity, whereas the D2-like receptor antagonist eticlopride blocked amphetamine sensitization, but produced less locomotor hypoactivity in females as compared to males, and did not produce hypoactivity compared to controls. This was to be expected, as eticlopride blocks the inhibitory dopamine D2 autoreceptor and therefore increases dopaminergic activity, that would be expected to produce an increase in locomotor activity.

A) SCH23390 - males



* indicates a significant difference in the saline-saline-amphetamine group ** indicates a significant difference from all other groups in the response of the quinpirole-saline-amphetamine group

Figure 2 A) Horizontal activity of male subjects treated with SCH23390.



* indicates a significant difference in the saline-saline-amphetamine group ** indicates a significant difference from all other groups in the response of the quinpirole-saline-amphetamine group

Figure 2 B) Horizontal activity of male subjects treated with eticlopride. The QSA group had significantly different activity levels than all other groups on both days 1 and 7. SSA animals showed significantly higher activity levels than saline-treated control animals. SCH23390 was effective at lowering activity levels in all treatment constructs to below control levels. Data are presented as means of groups +/- SEM.



* indicates a group with a significant difference from control
 ** indicates a group with a significant difference from all other groups

Figure 3 A) Horizontal activity of female subjects treated with SCH23390.

B) Eticlopride - females



* indicates a group with a significant difference from control

** indicates a group with a significant difference from all other groups

Figure 3 B) Horizontal activity of female subjects treated with eticlopride. SSA animals demonstrated a significant increase in activity over control animals. SCH23390 treated groups exhibited lower levels of horizontal activity compared to control animals. The SES group showed significantly greater activity than control animals on both days 1 and 7, with levels similar to the SSA group. Data are presented as means of each group +/-SEM.

Turning Behavior

Results are shown in figures 4 (males) and 5 (females). For turning behavior, an initial analysis revealed no directional differences, so total (clockwise and counterclockwise) turns were summed and averaged for each group on days 1 and 7. Turning is presented as a function of neonatal drug treatment, antagonist drug treatment, adult drug treatment, and day of testing in Figure 3. A 2 x 2 x 2 x 2 x 2 x 2 fiveway ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of antagonist drug treatment F(1,162) =98.81, p<0.001, day of treatment F(1,126) = 9.637, p<0.002 and adult drug treatment F(1,162) = 6.395, p<0.013, one significant three-way interaction of Day X Antagonist Treatment X Adult Drug Treatment F(1,162) = 3.802, p<0.025, one significant four-way interaction: Day X Sex X Neonatal Treatment x Antagonist Treatment F(1,162) = 3.915, p<0.05, and a significant five-way interaction of Day of Treatment X Sex X Neonatal Treatment X Antagonist Treatment X Adult Drug Treatment F(1,162) = 4.242, p<0.041. Analysis of the significant five-way interaction demonstrated that females given neonatal quinpirole, saline as antagonist treatment and amphetamine as adult drug treatment demonstrated a significantly higher amount of turning behavior as compared to all other groups on the 1st day of treatment (day 1). Both SCH23390 and eticlopride blocked increases in turning behavior produced by amphetamine, and SCH23390 was more effective at blocking increases in turning behavior produced by amphetamine as compared to eticlopride, consistent with the horizontal activity results. Analysis of the significant four-way interaction again revealed that females given neonatal quinpirole treatment and saline as antagonist treatment demonstrated significantly higher amount of turning behavior on day 1. Post hoc analysis of the significant three-way interaction

revealed that animals given saline as antagonist treatment and amphetamine as adult drug treatment demonstrated significantly higher levels of turning behavior on day 7 compared to all other groups. The significant main effects revealed that SCH23390 blocked the increase in turning behavior more so than eticlopride, although both significantly reduced turning behavior as compared to saline treated control subjects, and amphetamine significantly increased turning behavior. It appears that D2 priming as is produced by neonatal quinpirole treatment enhanced amphetamine-induced turning behavior, but this effect was blocked by either D1 or D2 antagonism.

A) Males SCH23390



* indicates a group with a significant difference from control** indicates a group with a significant difference from all other groups

Figure 4 A) Turning behavior of male subjects treated with SCH23390.

B) Males Eticlopride



* indicates a group with a significant difference from control ** indicates a group with a significant difference from all other groups

Figure 4 B) Turning behavior of male subjects treated with eticlopride. SSA animals demonstrated a significant increase in turning over control animals. SCH23390 treated groups exhibited lower levels of horizontal activity compared to control animals. The QSA group showed significantly greater activity than all other groups on both days 1 and 7. Data are presented as the mean of each group +/- SEM.

A) Female SCH23390



* indicates a group with a significant difference from control
** indicates a group with a significant difference from all other groups

Figure 5 A) Turning behavior of female subjects treated with SCH23390.

B) Female Eticlopride



* indicates a group with a significant difference from control** indicates a group with a significant difference from all other groups

Figure 5 B) Turning behavior of female subjects treated with eticlopride. SSA animals demonstrated a significant increase in turning over control animals on Day 7. SCH23390 treated groups exhibited lower levels of turning compared to control animals. The QSA group showed significantly greater activity than all other groups on both days 1 and 7. Data are presented as group means +/- SEM.

Microdialysis

As with behavior, there were a total of five factors in the experimental design: sex (male, female), neonatal drug treatment (2 levels: quinpirole, saline), antagonist treatment (3 levels: saline, SCH23390, eticlopride), adult drug treatment (2 levels: amphetamine, saline), and time point after drug administration (repeated measure: time point after drug administration). Across all analyses regarding DA, DOPAC, HVA, and NE, there were no significant sex differences revealed and data were collapsed across that factor for analysis. Thus, a four-way repeated measures ANOVA was the primary statistical measure for analysis of dopamine levels in the nucleus accumbens core Additionally, initial analysis also revealed no significant effect of estrus cycle stage, so data were collapsed over that factor as well.

Dopamine Overflow

Dopamine overflow in the nucleus accumbens core is presented as a function of adult drug treatment and antagonist drug treatment in figures 6 (SCH23390) and 7 (eticlopride).

A four-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed three significant main effects: time point F(8,84) = 2.46, p<0.012, antagonist drug treatment F(2,84) = 9.41, p<0.001 and adult drug treatment F(1,84) = 6.24, p<0.014, as well as four significant two-way interactions: neonatal drug treatment x antagonist drug treatment F(2,84) = 4.61, p<0.013, neonatal drug treatment x adult drug treatment F(1,84) = 4.58, p<0.04, antagonist drug treatment x adult drug treatment F(2,84) = 12.77, p<0.001, time point x antagonist drug treatment F(8,84) = 2.77, p<0.001 and one significant three-way interaction time point x antagonist drug treatment x adult drug treatment F(16,84) = 2.67p<0.001. Post hoc analysis of the significant three-way interaction revealed that amphetamine produced a significant increase in dopamine overflow in animals given saline for antagonist drug treatment at the 20-180 min time points. Post hoc analyses of the significant two-way interactions revealed that neonatal quinpirole treatment coupled with saline treatment for the antagonist drug treatment significant increased dopamine overflow; neonatal quinpirole treatment enhanced dopamine overflow in animals treated with amphetamine; rats given saline during antagonist drug treatment coupled with

amphetamine for adult drug treatment demonstrated a significant increase in dopamine overflow, and saline during antagonist treatment produced a significant increase in dopamine overflow at time points 20-180 min after drug treatment. Amphetamine treatment resulted in a significant increase in dopamine overflow as expected. Neonatal quinpirole treatment followed by adult d-amphetamine administration resulted in the greatest increase in dopamine overflow (Nowak et al. 2001, Cope et al. 2008). Thus D2 priming appears to poteniate the increase in dopamine overflow seen following adult amphetamine administration. It appears that both SCH23390 and eticlopride can effectively attenuate the D2 priming effect that results in increased dopamine overflow in the nucleus accumbens. This may be the result of a lack of D1/D2 synergism in the presence of antagonism of either the D1 or D2 receptor.



Figure 6 Dopamine overflow in subjects treated with SCH23390. Group QSA exhibited significantly higher levels of dopamine in samples than all other groups. Group SSA also exhibited increased dopamine levels compared to antagonist treated subjects. A single * represents a significant difference from saline-treated control subjects (SSS). ** represent a significant difference from all other groups. Arrows indicate cumulative

dosing of amphetamine as the experiment progressed. Values are means for each group +/- SEM.



Figure 7 Dopamine overflow in subjects treated with eticlopride. Eticlopride treated subjects demonstrated no significant difference in dopamine levels compared to control subjects. A single * represents a significant difference from control subjects. ** represent a significant difference from all other groups. Arrows indicate cumulative dosing of amphetamine as the experiment progressed. Values are means for each group +/- SEM.

DOPAC Overflow

A four-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed two significant main effects:

time point F(8,96) = 2.41, p<0.014, adult drug treatment F(1,96) = 5.75, p<0.018, and

one significant three-way interaction neonatal drug treatment x antagonist drug

treatment x adult drug treatment F(2,96) = 3.79, p<0.026. Post-hoc analysis of the

significant three-way interaction revealed that neonatal quinpirole treatment coupled

with SCH-23390 and amphetamine treatment in adulthood produced a significant

increase in DOPAC overflow, data represented in table 3. Neonatal quinpirole

treatment resulted in an increase in DOPAC, and SCH 23390 was unable to reduce DOPAC overflow to control levels. Taken together, these results indicate that D2 priming facilitates DOPAC overflow. No other significant differences were found between groups. Analysis of the significant main effects revealed that there were significant changes in DOPAC over the different time points, and amphetamine significantly increased DOPAC compared to rats treated with saline.

Table 3 DOPAC Microdialysis. DOPAC results from microdialysis presented as an average concentration for each group following adult drug treatment (AMPH or saline). Values are DOPAC concentrations in picograms. A * denotes a significant difference from saline-treated control animals (SSS).

<u>Group</u>	<u>Mean</u>	
Abbreviation	Concentration	
Q1A	128.09*	
Q1S	96.54	
QEA	90.22	
QES	145.56*	
QSA	81.66	
QSS	321.53	
S1A	80.79	
S1S	113.34	
SEA	89.12	
SES	135.92	
SSA	80.02	
SSS	87.18	

Norepinephrine Overflow

A four-way repeated measures ANOVA revealed a significant main effect of time point F(8,80) = 2.20, p<0.026, three significant two-way interactions: time point x neonatal treatment F(1,80) = 5.37, p<0.023, time point x antagonist treatment F(2,80) =6.83, p<0.002, time point x adult drug treatment F(1,80) = 8.35, p<0.005 and a significant four-way interaction of time point x neonatal treatment x antagonist treatment x adult drug treatment F(2,80) = 3.53, p<0.034. Post hoc analysis of the significant fourway interaction revealed that rats given neonatal guinpirole treatment, saline as their antagonist drug treatment, and amphetamine in adulthood produced a significant increase in NE overflow at 80, 100, and 120 min post drug treatment, data shown in figures 10 and 11. Interestingly, saline-treated controls demonstrated significantly greater levels of norepinephrine at the 20 and 40 minute time points following drug administration, but this may also been due to unstable baseline in this group (data not shown). Overall, amphetamine treatment without antagonism produced a significant 200% increase in NE levels at 80, 100, and 120 minutes post drug treatment in the nucleus accumbens core compared to controls, consistent with previous work (McKittrick and Abercrombie 2007). Antagonist treatment with either SCH23390 or eticlopride blocked the effects of amphetamine on NE with levels equal to saline treated controls (Group SSS).



Figure 8 Norepinephrine overflow in subjects treated with SCH23390. All groups demonstrated significantly lower levels of norepinephrine for the first 60 minutes post drug as compared to saline-treated control subjects. At 100 minutes post drug treatment, groups SSA, QSA and QSS exhibited higher levels of norepinephrine than saline-treated control subjects. Arrows represent dosage of amphetamine in mg/kg administered at each time point. Data are represented by percentage of baseline +/- SEM. A * represents a significant difference from saline-treated control subjects (SSS).



Figure 9 Norepinephrine overflow in subjects treated with eticlopride. Groups SSA and QSA exhibited significantly higher levels of norepinephrine compared to control subjects. Group QEA exhibited significantly higher levels of norepinephrine compared to control groups. No other significant differences were found. Arrows represent dosage of amphetamine in mg/kg administered at each time point. Data are represented by percentage of baseline +/- SEM. A * represents a significant difference from saline-treated control subjects (SSS).

Homovanillic Acid Overflow

A 2 x 2 x 3 x 9 revealed no main effects or interactions of drug treatment in the

levels of homovanillic acid (HVA) during baseline or after drug treatment.

CHAPTER 4

DISCUSSION

The results of this study indicate several important findings. First, neonatal treatment with the D2/D3 receptor agonist quinpirole enhanced sensitization to amphetamine in adulthood. Second, neonatal quinpnirole treatment also enhanced the dopaminergic response to amphetamine in adulthood in the nucleus accumbens core. Third, it appears that both the D1 and D2 receptors are differentially involved in amphetamine-induced sensitization. Based on findings that D2 primed animals exhibited an increased locomotor response and dopamine overflow in a brain area associated with drug reward, this study indicates that enhancing dopamine D2 receptor sensitivity enhances the behavioral and dopaminergic response to amphetamine, that presumably increases the rewarding effect of the drug in D2 primed animals. This is consistent with previous studies that have shown neonatal quinpirole treatment produces a more robust sensitization to the psychostimulant nicotine in adolescence and adulthood and produces a more robust dopaminergic response to amphetamine in adulthood, that is consistent with the effects reported here, because both amphetamine and nicotine are in the psychostimulant drug family (Perna et al. 2008, Cope et al. 2009).

In terms of the roles of D1 and D2 receptors, although both D1 and D2 antagonism blocked amphetamine sensitization in males and dopamine overflow, pretreatment with the D1 receptor antagonist SCH-23390 was more effective in producing a reduction in locomotor activity in males and dopamine overflow than the D2-like receptor antagonist eticlopride. Pre-amphetamine treatment with the D1

antagonist SCH 23390 blocked both locomotor sensitization to amphetamine as well as accumbal dopamine overflow, consistent with our hypothesis. Previous work has shown that D1 receptors are necessary for the induction of behavioral sensitization (Vezina 1996). Results here confirm that the blockade of the D1 receptor with SCH23390 is sufficient to prevent amphetamine-induced behavioral sensitization. It has been postulated that induction of enduring enhancements in the ventral tegmental area (VTA) induced by amphetamine involve the somatodendritic release of dopamine and its action at dopamine D1 receptors. Dopamine D1 receptors in the VTA appear to be positioned such that they can exert a critical influence on the initiation of changes in the reactivity of accumbal dopaminergic neurons that lead to a long-term sensitized locomotor response as well as dopaminergic response from the nucleus accumbens (Vezina 1996). The release of both GABA and glutamate into the ventral tegmental area has also been shown to be modulated by D1 receptors (Cameron and Williams 1993, Kalivas and Duffy 1995), and both of these neurotransmitters have been shown to influence the induction of behavioral sensitization to psychostimulants (Wolf et al. 1994). Thus, the induction of sensitization may depend on D1 mediated release of neurotransmitters in addition to dopamine. The drug reward pathway including the ventral tegmental area and nucleus accumbens are represented in figure 10.



Figure 10 Schematic of the reward pathway involved in addiction. Figure modified from NIDA Notes, 1996.

The inhibitory action of dopamine has been shown to be enhanced in psychostimulant-sensitized animals and that this effect is also mediated by D1-like receptors (O'Donnell and Grace 1994). For example, GBR12909, a dopamine transport (DAT) inhibitor, showed no effect on the synaptic action of dopamine following psychostimulant treatment indicating that the enhancement of the presynaptic inhibition is not likely to be attributed to downregulation of dopamine transporter activity (Beurrier and Malenka 2002). Rather, this change in presynaptic inhibition appears to be caused by a modification of the number of presynaptic D1-like receptors. Past results have shown, for instance, that chronic administration of the dopamine reuptake inhibitor cocaine results in increased inhibitory action of D1 agonists on single-unit responses of nucleus accumbens neurons (Henry and White 1991). These data suggest that the effect of D1 receptors in behavioral sensitization are the result of increased postsynaptic inhibition. This theory is supported by the decreased locomotor response and of dopamine overflow following treatment with the D1 receptor antagonist SCH23390. The reduction of dopaminergic overflow in this study produced by SCH 23390 was not accompanied by a comparable increase in the dopamine metabolites DOPAC or HVA, indicating that the change occurs outside of the metabolism of dopamine and supports a change in the receptor functionality.

Although Vezina postulated that induction of behavioral sensitization requires the D1 but not the D2 receptor (1996), results here indicate a role of the D2 receptor in behavioral sensitization. However, this may be the result of differences in design and methodology. Vezina (1996) employed a pretreatment of SCH23390 for D1 antagonism or eticlopride, spiprerone or sulpiride for D2 antagonism followed by amphetamine or saline treatment up to 1 hour later, and sensitization was tested by amphetamine challenge 1-3 weeks later. In the present study, antagonist administration was followed by amphetamine administration by only 10 mins, that could be related the time course and action of eticlopride and its efficacy to block not only D2 subtypes but D3 receptor subtypes. Additionally, in the present study amphetamine was administered every other day for a total of seven exposures. In the Vezina (1996) study, amphetamine was administered at a dose of 1.0 mg/kg once every 3rd day for five injections. Though the doses of amphetamine, eticlopride, and SCH23390 were the same in both studies, it is likely that the differences in experimental design may account for the differences in effects at the D2-like receptors in these studies. It is not possible to exclude a possible impact of the D3 receptor since both quinpirole and eticlopride have possible effects at the D3 receptor in addition to the D2 receptors within this study. Vezina (1996) suggested that D2 receptors did not have a role in sensitization to amphetamine and
showed similar results using three dopamine D2 antagonists, two of that are more selective to the D2 receptor than eticlopride. Interestingly, eticlopride treatment to rats neonatally treated with saline resulted in locomotor activity levels that were similar to non D2-primed animals treated with amphetamine as seen in figures 2b and 3b. Dopamine D2-primed animals receiving eticlopride and amphetamine resulted in a locomotor profile very similar to that of non D2-primed subjects receiving eticlopride alone. Such findings suggest that systemic eticlopride can attenuate the locomotor effects of amphetamine, but that eticlopride treatment alone given in adulthood creates a change in dopamine receptors that results in behavioral changes similar to those seen from neonatal priming. Interestingly, past studies have shown that eticlopride (0.6 mg/kg) potentiates dopamine release by amphetamine using functional MRI as well as in locomotor activity (Tanabe et al. 2004; Chen YC et al. 2005), although in the latter study, eticlopride was infused into the VTA. There is no doubt that differences in administration routes (i.e. intrabrain administration versus systemic ip injection) and dosages may account for differential results, and, in fact, it suggests that the effects of systemic administration of eticlopride on dopamine overflow is fundamentally different from direct infuction into brain areas.

Interestingly, there were sex differences in the response to eticlopride. Pretreatment with eticlopride blocked sensitization to amphetamine more effectively in females than in males but completely blocked amphetamine's effects on accumbal dopamine overflow equally across both sexes. This is inconsistent with our hypothesis but poses an interesting finding in that this is the only study to analyze the effects of

systemic treatment with the D2/D3 antagonist eticlopride on amphetamine sensitization and its effects on dopamine overflow.

Amphetamine administration significantly increased turning behavior in males and females, an effect that was blocked by both D1 and D2 antagonist treatment, though D1 blockade was more effective, similar to results with horizontal activity. This behavioral effect also may be the result of a greater density of striatal dopamine D1 receptors and turning behavior has been shown to be a valid test of striatal function.

Amphetamine action on neurotransmission is complex. First, amphetamine uptake by DAT is required. Second, amphetamine then inhibits the activity of vesicular monoamine transporter (VMAT) resulting in an increase in non-vesicular cytosolic neurotransmitter concentrations. This increase in neurotransmitter results in reverse transport of the neurotransmitter via membrane-bound transporters (Sulzer et al. 1993; Sulzer et al. 1995). Quantification of neurotransmitters by microdialysis following amphetamine administration is a result of overflow rather than vesicular release of the neurotransmitter. Results showed amphetamine-induced overflow of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens (core) in rats was greater in rodents repeatedly treated with quinpirole during the postnatal development period (Nowak et al. 2001).

It is hypothesized that the underlying mechanism of this effect is related to several factors. First, amphetamine produced a significant increase in dopamine overflow. Second, amphetamine has been shown to produce a subsensitization of presynaptic D2 autoreceptors in the VTA. Third, neonatal quinpirole produces supersensitization of postsynaptic D2 receptors resulting in an increased dopaminergic response to amphetamine (Nowak et al. 2001). This increased dopaminergic response

presumably results in a more robust behavioral activation to the drug. There is another complex caveat to this mechanism. Based on the fact that quinpirole is a D2/D3 agonist, it binds to and activates both the presynaptic inhibitory D2 autoreceptor as well as the postsynaptic D2 receptor. Past work has shown that acute quinpirole treatment actually produces a decrease in dopamine overflow (Nowak et al. 2001) in the dorsal striatum, and this is presumably due to its action at the autoreceptor. Therefore, it is assumed that quinpirole primes both the D2 inhibitory autoreceptor and the D2 postsynaptic receptor with roughly equal affinities. A critical action relative to the results observed here is that amphetamine produces subsensitivity of the inhibitory D2 autoreceptor. Therefore, supersensitization of the postsynaptic receptor as is produced by neonatal quinpirole is the most plausible explanation of the mechanism observed in the present study.

The mechanism of D2 receptor supersensitivity, or D2 priming, is unknown. When D2 receptors are activated, a G-protein coupled receptor (GPCR), like the dopamine-bound D2 dopamine receptor, binds a trimeric G-protein and catalyzes the exchange of GTP for GDP at the alpha subunit of the G-protein that leads to the dissociation of GTP bound alpha subunit. This dissociation allows the freed dimer to regulate activity of cellular effector molecules. Signal termination is mediated by the GTPase activity intrinsic to the alpha subunit. The GTPase hydrolyzes the bound GTP to GDP allowing the subunit to reassociate with the dimer (Ross and Wilkie 2000). GTPase activity of the alpha subunit and thereby the signal termination of the GPCR can be enhanced by members of a family of proteins called regulators of G-protein signaling (RGSs) (Berman and Gilman 1998, Ross and Wilkie 2000). One such protein,

RGS9, has a splice transcript RGS9-2 that is confined to the striatum (Thomas et al. 1998). Mice with a null mutation in the RGS9 gene showed heightened locomotor responses to cocaine and related psychostimulants, whereas viral-mediated overexpression of RGS9-2, but not RGS4, in rat striatum specifically reduced locomotor responses to D2 receptor agonists (Rahman et al. 2003). As mentioned above in the introduction, we have shown that RGS9 is significantly downregulated in D2 primed animals as compared to non D2-primed animals (Maple et al. 2007) in several heavily innervated dopaminergic brain areas, including the striatum, nucleus accumbens, and frontal cortex. Therefore, it appears that regulation of D2 receptor signal transduction is lessened in animals neonatally treated with guinpirole, likely resulting in an overall increased response from this family of receptors. Modifications of downstream proteins including, but not limited to, the RGS family of proteins may help to account for the modifications of the cascade resulting in greater or prolonged dopaminergic effect following amphetamine administration. However, it should be noted that no second messenger system has been identified to fully account for the supersensitization following neonatal guinpirole treatment.

Amphetamine has been shown to produce an additive effect on extraneuronal dopamine levels in both the striatum and nucleus accumbens core in rats neonatally treated with quinpirole (Nowak et al. 2001, Cope et al. 2009). This additive effect may result from amphetamine actions mediated by both the D1 and D2 receptors. In this study we attempted to elucidate the roles of each receptor. Results here suggest the D1 receptor does play a role in regulating the extraneuronal levels of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens core. However, eticlopride blockade of the D2 receptor also

attenuates the effects of amphetamine on extraneuronal dopamine in the nucleus accumbens. Such an impact of singular receptor blockade implicates mediation by synergistic effects of the D1 and D2 receptors. It has been shown that concomitant stimulation of the D1 and D2 receptors is required under normal conditions for many actions of dopamine, a phenomenon referred to as D1/D2 synergism (Gershanik et al. 1983, La Hoste et al. 1996). This type of receptor interaction is representative of an extreme form of synergism in that the effect of two combined drugs exceeds the algebraic sum of their two effects. In this form, two drugs (e.g. D1 and D2 agonists) potentiate the effects of the other and each is ineffective without the other based on the activation of both dopamine receptor subtypes. It is the concurrent activation of both receptor subtypes that results in the synergistic effects. In terms of amphetamine, an indirect dopamine agonist, administration results in an increased dopamine release resulting in stimulation of D1 and D2 receptors postsynaptically, an idea supported in work showing that blockade of presynaptic autoreceptors does not impact this D1 and D2 interaction (Shi et al. 1997).

Synergism is evident in the control of motor behavior. For example, reserpineinduced akinesia can be reversed by combined but not separate administration of a selective D1 or selective D2 agonist. Increases in locomotion and motor stereotypy elicited by the indirect dopamine agonists apomorphine and amphetamine can be blocked by either a selective D1 or D2 antagonist (Lewis et al. 1983, Martres et al. 1992). The results of this study provide further evidence that there is such interplay between dopamine receptors given the ability of either D1 or D2 antagonist treatment to prevent amphetamine-induced increases in locomotion. It must be noted that basal

levels of endogenous dopamine may provide sufficient D1 tone to synergize with an exogenous D2 agonist. Administration of a D1 agonist alone does not elicit motor stereotypy, whereas administration of a D2 agonist alone does (White et al. 1988).

Following selective destruction of central dopaminergic neurons with the neurotoxin, 6-hydroxy-dopamine (6-OHDA), or prolonged depletion of monoamines with reserpine, there is a increased expression of striatal D2 receptors and animals become supersensitive to D1 or D2 agonists (La Hoste et al. 1993a). Accompanying the agonist supersensitivity is a complete breakdown of requisite D1/D2 synergism. Functions that previously required concomitant D1/D2 stimulation can be mediated by independent stimulation of either D1 or D2 receptors. This is true for stereotyped motor behavior, inhibition of striatal neuron firing, and striatal c-fos expression (La Hoste et al. 1993b). D1/D2 synergism may then play a role in amphetamine induced behavioral sensitization but does not account for effects following D2 receptor priming as it is expected that such priming would break down the synergistic mechanism. A breakdown in D1/D2 synergism as a result of priming is thought to be the result of a lack c-fos expression in the striatum following D2 agonist treatment. The absence of c-fos causes a change in the downstream cascade of gene expression that persists for at least 8 hours, a time consistent with that of causal events leading to increased sensitivity and a breakdown in D1/D2 synergism (LaHoste et al. 1993b).

Functional modifications of dopamine receptors have been implicated to be critical in the process of sensitization with regard to psychostimulants including amphetamine, nicotine, and cocaine (Kalivas and Duffy 1993; Kalivas et al. 1993; Vanderschuren and Kalivas 2000). Such a functional change has been specified to

exist in the mesocorticolimbic pathway, the pathway implicated in behavioral sensitization (Kalivas et al. 1993).

Both dopamine D1 and D2-like receptors in the NAcc as well as glutamate NMDA and AMPA receptors located on medium spiny neurons in the VTA are primary targets for altered neurotransmission following amphetamine or cocaine treatment (Montague et al. 2004, Hyman et al. 2006). When animals are sensitized to a drug, prior research suggests, dopamine D1 receptor supersensitivity occurs in the nucleus accumbens as a result of the upregulation of the cAMP pathway (Nestler and Aghajanian 1997). The blockade of dopamine D1 receptors in the present study prevented amphetamine-induced sensitization, an effect that may be explained by changes in the cAMP pathway. This cellular event may impact downstream G-protein coupling and result in an upgregulation of adenylyl cyclase and protein kinase A signals. D1 dopamine receptor-mediated cellular signaling cascade could then enhance the phosphorylation of the transcription factor cAMP response element binding protein (CREB) and the expression of immediate-early genes, such as Fos and Jun (Nestler 2002, Waters et al. 2003). Induction of expression of those genes is rapid and mostly transient and invokes subsequent gene expression (Zhang et al. 2005). For example, activation of CREB by phosphorylation is a common neuronal adaptation in the nucleus accumbens to psychostimulants (Impey et al. 2004). Previous studies suggest that drug-induced CREB activation/phosphorylation in the nucleus accumbens constitutes a negative feedback mechanism that dampens behavioral sensitivity to subsequent drug exposure (Carlezon et al. 2005).

Further, the accumulation of Δ FosB in the nucleus accumbens is a universal phenomenon following chronic exposure to abused drugs (Nestler et al. 1995). Over expression of Δ FosB in the nucleus accumbens increases the behavioral response to cocaine and amphetamine and the amount of Δ FosB accumulation in the nucleus determines the duration and intensity of drug-induced behavioral sensitization (McClung et al. 2004). Blockade of the D1 receptor with SCH23390 has been shown to attenuate the induction of fos proteins but D2 receptor antagonist treatment increased fos related proteins levels seen following amphetamine treatment (Nestler et al. 1995). In terms of the molecular mechanism underlying dopaminergic receptor involvement in behavioral sensitization, for proteins, including Δ FosB, appear to play a larger role in changing the downstream gene expression following drug exposure. Results involving the fos proteins appear to indicate that the D1 receptor plays the mediating role in sensitization. Thus, modulation of dopamine receptors through antagonism may reduce the amphetamine-induced increases Δ FosB, allowing for a potential modulation of behavioral sensitization. A future study in this laboratory will analyze the expression of delta FosB within this model.

The results of this study support the theory that both D1 and D2 receptors have a role in amphetamine behavioral sensitization. Further, D2 primed animals appear to have an increased sensitivity at the D2 receptor such that the coupled treatment of quinpirole and eticlopride results in a stimulated response comparable to animals treated with amphetamine regardless of neonatal drug treatment. This may support the idea that D2 priming produces an autoreceptor subsenstivity that enhanced the dopaminergic response similar to that of amphetamine (Kostrzewa et al. 2008). As

expected, dopamine D1 antagonist treatment in D2-primed animals was more effective in reducing locomotor activity in female rats than male rats compared to saline treated control subjects because female rats are more susceptible to antagonist effects than males (Schindler and Carmona 2002). This supports previous work showing that females are more susceptible to the effects of dopamine D1 receptor blockade than are males, although D2 blockade using eticlopride has been shown to be effective at blocking cocaine sensitization in at least one past study (Schindler and Carmona 2002), whereas in the present study eticlopride was not effective at blocking amphetamine sensitization in adult females. This points to a possible sexual dimorphism not only in the response to antagonists but in the combination of dopaminergic antagonists with amphetamine.

With regard to D2 receptors, increased antagonist susceptibility may arise from dopaminergic fluctuations related to estrogen levels and stages of the estrus cycle. In females, estrogen acts to inhibit GABA neurons in the striatum and accumbens resulting in increased dopamine function. Estrogen also acts to enhance dopamine release by downregulating D2 receptor function (Becker 1999). Though no effects of estrus cycle stage were found associated with sex differences in locomotor activity in the present study, that may be the result of insufficient sample size in each stage of estrus. However, animals were treated every other day for the duration of sensitization; therefore, female subjects should have been administered adult drug treatment and antagonist across all stages of the cycle.

D2 primed animals treated with eticlopride exhibited no difference relative to saline treated controls on the horizontal activity measure. However, non D2-primed

females treated with eticlopride and saline exhibited an increase in locomotor activity as compared to saline- treated control subjects. This is likely the result of presynaptic autoreceptor blockade that results in a disinhibition of dopamine release, thereby stimulating additional dopamine release and increasing locomotor activity (Goldwert et al. 2006). Female rats showed a greater reduction in activity following SCH23390 treatment as compared to males, consistent with past work (Schindler and Carmona 2002). This difference in D1 response may also be the result of dopaminergic changes associated with estrogen (Becker 1999). However, the nucleus accumbens plays a significant role in behavioral sensitization and males show a higher density of D1 receptors in the nucleus accumbens (Andersen et al. 1997). This difference in receptor density may also account for an increased impact in females. Less dense populations of receptors would likely result in a greater occupancy of receptors by a lower dose of antagonist and may account for females responding in a more significant way to receptor blockade. As expected, males showed a less robust sensitization response to amphetamine compared to females. This expectation was based on previous work that has shown that the D1 receptor plays a more important role in amphetamine sensitization, although there are no data on sex differences in the roles of D1 and D2 receptors in amphetamine sensitization.

In terms of behavioral sensitization, past work has shown that females exhibit more robust sensitization than do intact males to amphetamine (Camp and Robinson 1988, Becker 1999, Perna et al. 2007, Cope et al. 2008). We hypothesized that female rats would be more sensitive to the antagonism treatments of both D1 and D2 receptors. One of the more important and interesting effects reported here was that

blockade of the D1 receptor completely blocked sensitization to amphetamine in both males and females, at least implying D1 receptor function is similar across the two sexes in terms of amphetamine sensitization. In contrast, blockade of the D2 receptor by eticlopride was more effective at blocking amphetamine sensitization in males as compared to females, suggesting a sex difference in D2 function. One issue here is that eticlopride is only 3-4 fold more selective for the D2 receptor subtype as compared to the D3 receptor subtype (Claytor et al. 2006). Thus, this may be reflective of sex differences of not only the D2 but D3 receptor subtype of the D2 receptor family. A more selective D2 receptor antagonist may be able to more effectively ascertain the roles of the D2 and D3 receptors in males and females. In other work from this lab, both D2 and D3 receptor subtypes have been shown to be involved in the locomotor activating effects of nicotine (Sheppard 2008). A second issue here, however, is that sex differences in D2 receptor function have been shown. Females demonstrate a higher amount of locomotor activation when D2 receptors are activated by an agonist (Szumnlinski et al. 2000, Schindler & Carmona, 2002) but locomotor depression to D2 antagonism, although this study used adolescents (Sheppard et al. in press). Additionally, age differences in the development of dopamine receptors prevalent in the striatum and nucleus accumbens have been shown (Andersen & Teicher, 2000). Females demonstrate a more stable number of D2 receptors throughout development, whereas males exhibit a lower amount of D2 receptors in early adolescence with the number peaking in mid-adolescence before being reduced to equivalent numbers of D2 receptors as females in adulthood. This may have repercussions as to the adult dopamine function as well, but this has yet to be delineated. Regardless, these results

support past work that sex differences in D2 function and D2 receptor development exist.

There are no results from DOPAC or HVA samples that indicate increased dopaminergic overflow is the result of a change in dopamine metabolism. D2-primed animals treated with saline as well as primed animals treated with SCH23390 and amphetamine revealed a significantly higher level of DOPAC in microdialysate samples as compared to saline treated controls. These results suggest that the D2 priming related increase in DOPAC is not related to D1/D2 synergism, as said increase can not be fully attenuated following D1 receptor blockade. Additionally, at 40 minutes post drug treatment, non-D2-primed animals treated with SCH23390 show elevations in DOPAC release. This may indicate an increase in dopamine catabolism that resolves at 60 minutes potentially indicating a freeing up of previously bound receptors or a self-resolving mechanism following dopamine catabolism. This follows the results that SCH23390 can increase dopamine overflow due to its action on presynaptically located D1 receptors (Egilmez et al. 1995). Thus, it is then likely that changes occur within presynaptic receptor functionality rather than dopamine metabolism following release.

Maybe the most important aspect of the present study is that these results are consistent with clinical findings. Schizophrenic patients, using a single photon emission computerized tomography (SPECT), have shown increased striatal dopamine release in response to an amphetamine challenge as compared to healthy matched control subjects (Laruelle et al. 1996, Abi-Dargham et al. 1998). Increased dopaminergic transmission was also associated with behavioral consequences (e.g. worsening or emergence of psychotic symptoms). The effects of amphetamine on subjects were not

attributable to peripheral effects of the drug. More specifically, increased striatal dopamine release following amphetamine administration is associated with the D2 receptor sensitivity (Laruelle et al. 1996, Abi-Dargham et al. 1998). These studies present a clinical correlation for the findings of this study in terms of increased dopaminergic overflow and locomotor findings. Taken together, these results confirm the involvement of the dopamine D2 receptor in terms of modeling psychosis, and more specifically, schizophrenia.

In the current study, amphetamine was shown to significantly increase norepinephrine overflow in both D2-primed and non D2-primed male and female rats, although neonatal quinpirole treatment did not enhance this effect. This result is consistent with work by McKittrick and Abercrombie (2007) who have shown systemic amphetamine administration resulted in a significant increase in norepinephrine overflow in the nucleus accumbens. Treatment with either D1 or D2 antagonist blocked the amphetamine-induced increase in norepinephrine overflow in the nucleus accumbens.

It has been shown that norepinephrine overflow in the rat nucleus accumbens is under the opposing influence of stimulatory dopamine D1 and inhibitory dopamine D2 receptors (Vanderschuren et al. 1999). The D2 antagonist sulpiride has been shown to strongly increase norepinephrine overflow in the nucleus accumbens, whereas the D1 antagonist SCH23390 did not reduce norepinephrine overflow (Vanderschuren et al. 1999). Results of this study similarly show that SCH23390 does not significantly reduce norepinephrine as compared to control subjects; however, the D2-like antagonist eticlopride does not appear to increase norepinephrine overflow. Inhibitory dopamine

D2 receptors have been shown to regulate norepinephrine overflow, as opposed to the enhancing effects of the dopamine D1 receptor in an in vitro study using superfusion techniques (Vanderschuren et al. 1999). Results here support that idea as eticlopride as a D2 like antagonist blocked norepinephrine overflow in the nucleus accumbens. It is important to note that effects of eticlopride may not be limited to the D2 receptor, as eticlopride also has significant affinity for the D3 receptor. The limitations of this study do not allow a complete understanding of any potential involvement at D3 receptors.

The combined treatment of quinpirole and amphetamine result in an increased norepinephrine overflow at the 80, 100, and 120 minute time points. If released endogenous dopamine tonically inhibits norepinephrine overflow in the nucleus accumbens through the stimulation of D2 receptors, then D2 primed animals, as well as non D2-primed animals treated with amphetamine should have similar norepinephrine levels to saline controls an idea supported by the data. Dopamine D2 receptors are located near active zones formed by dopamine and norepinephrine terminals, whereas dopamine D1 receptors are located more distally from the site for dopamine overflow (Sesack et al. 1994, Hersche et al. 1995). It may be that dopamine released from mesolimbic neurons preferentially interacts with D2 receptors located closer to the terminal of release (Vandershuren 1999). If such a proximal relationship prevails, blockade of the D2 receptor by eticlopride would then inhibit norepinephrine overflow in the nucleus accumbens. Dopamine D2-primed animals treated with amphetamine as a result of the increased dopamine overflow would activate both D1 and D2 receptors resulting in a net increase in norepinephrine overflow. Dopamine D2 receptor priming

alone would not be expected to enhance norepinephrine overflow but rather to inhibit such overflow.

<u>Conclusions</u>

Dopaminergic dysfunction is implicated in underlying several mental illnesses including schizophrenia, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and bipolar disorder. Mental illnesses are often comorbid with substance abuse disorder leading to a dual diagnosis. Such a dual diagnosis complicates treatment and may impact the overall effectiveness of pharmacological interventions. Using a D2 priming model to mimic dopamine D2 receptor dysfunction in mental illness, changes in receptor sensitivity result in changes in amphetamine-induced locomotor response and dopamine overflow in the nucleus accumbens. Results of this study are that D2 priming enhanced the dopaminergic response to amphetamine in adulthood, an effect alleviated by blockade of either D1 or D2 receptors. Second, changes in D2 receptor sensitivity may increase the positive reinforcing effect of a psychostimulant drug in adult animals. Third, D1 receptor blockade was more effective in reducing locomotor activity in males and dopamine overflow than D2 receptor blockade b eticlopride. Fourth, females are more sensitive to the effects of D1 receptor blockade than males.

If supersensitization is a key aspect of psychosis, these changes may represent a mechanism toward the increased abuse of drugs in humans suffering from these psychotic disorders. Blockade of dopamine D2 receptors results in patterns of locomotor activity and dopaminergic overflow similar to that seen from amphetamine administration, likely a result of presynaptic autoreceptor inhibition. Dopamine D1 and D2 receptors differentially play a role in amphetamine-induced sensitization. Dopamine

D1 receptor blockade is more effective at preventing locomotor sensitization than D2 receptor blockade. This may indicate a primarily motor involvement of the D1 receptor family in terms of behavioral sensitization rather than involvement in the rewarding properties of amphetamine. Conversely, dopamine D2 receptor may play less of a role in the activating effects of amphetamine, but when antagonist to this receptor are given systemically, they appear to produce a different effect on dopamine function than when infused. Precisely the mechanism behind this is not known and outside of the scope of the present work but opens up an interesting area of research. All antipsychotic drugs antagonize the D2 receptor (Tollefson 1996) and are obviously given systemically. Thus, it appears that the route in that this drug is given may have important implications relative to its effects on neurochemistry and specifically, dopamine function.

It is unclear what impact sex differences have in this interaction. Females were more susceptible to the effects of dopamine antagonists than males. Further experimentation is required to clearly elucidate sex differences in D2 primed animals and how this may be related to hormonal fluctuations. Clinical results have shown that female patients are more sensitive to the effects of abused drugs (Carroll et al. 2004), a result supported here. Many such measurements of response to a drug in a clinical setting are subjective and cannot be modeled in animals. Animal models are then limited in allowing a full understanding of underlying sex differences in a dual diagnosis. Dopaminergic dysfunction may underlie mental illnesses and increases in dopamine D2 sensitivity may represent a mechanism for vulnerability to psychostimulant abuse, particularly in terms of comorbidity.

Substance abuse in schizophrenics carries consequences that further impact schizophrenic patients. Results of the current study correlate with clinical findings that amphetamine increases dopaminergic transmission in schizophrenic patients, and that increases in dopaminergic transmission are associated with a worsening of behavioral symptoms of schizophrenia. This model may then allow for further exploration of mechanism(s) that result in a greater incidence of drug use, particularly psychostimulants, in schizophrenics compared to the general population.

REFERENCES

Abi-Dargham A, Gil R, Krystal J, Baldwin RM, Seibyl JP, Bowers M, van Dyck CH,
Charney DS, Innis RB, Laruelle M (1998) Increased striatal dopamine
transmission in schizophrenia: confirmation in a second cohort. Am J
Psychiatry. 155(6): 761-767.

Ackerman and White (1992) Decreased activity of rat A10 dopamine neurons following withdrawal from repeated cocaine. Eur J Pharmacol 218:171-173.

Addington and Duchak (1997) Reasons for substance use in schizophrenia. Acta Psychiatr Scand 96(5):329-333.

Akerele and Levin (2002) Substance abuse among patients with schizophrenia. J Psychiatr Prac 8(2):70-80.

Andersen and Teicher (2000) Sex differences in dopamine receptors and their relevance to ADHD. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 24(1):137-141.

Andersen et al. (1997) D-amphetamine fails to increase extracellular dopamine levels in mice lacking alpha 1b-adrenergic receptors: relationship between functional and nonfunctional dopamine release. J Neurosci 22(21):9150-9154.

Beatty and Holzer (1978) Sex differences in stereotyped behavior in the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 9(6):777-783.

Becker and Beer (1986) The influence of estrogen on nigrostriatal dopamine activity: behavioral and neurochemical evidence for both pre- and postsynaptic components.

Becker and Hu (2008) Sex differences in drug abuse. Front Neuroendocrinol 29(1):36-47.

Becker JB, Ramirez VD (1981) Sex differences in the amphetamine stimulated release of catecholamines from rat striatal tissue in vitro. Brain Res 204(2): 361-372.

Becker JB, Robinson TE, Lorenz KA (1982) Sex differences and estrous cycle variations in amphetamine-induced rotational behavior. Eur J Pharmacol 80(1):65-72.

Becker JB, Molenda H, Hummer DL (2001) Gender differences in the behavioral responses to cocaine and amphetamine. Implications for mechanisms mediating gender differences in drug abuse. Ann N Y Acad Sci 937:172-187.

Becker JB (1999) Gender differences in dopamine function in striatum and nucleus accumbens. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 64(4):803-812.

- Benkert O, Grunder G, Wetzel H (1992) Dopamine autoreceptor agonists in the treatment of schizophrenia and major depression. Pharmacopsychiatry 25(6):254-260.
- Berger B, Gaspar P (1994) Immunocytochemical evidence of well-developed dopaminergic and noradrenergic innervations in the frontal cerebral cortex of human fetuses at midgestation. J Comp Neurol 336(3):331-344.
- Berman DM, Gilman AG (1998) Mammalian RGS proteins: barbarians at the gate. J Biol Chem 273(3):1269-1272.
- Beurrier C, Malenka RC (2002) Enhanced inhibition of synaptic transmission by dopamine in the nucleus accumbens during behavioral sensitization to cocaine.J Neurosci 22(14):5817-5822.
- Beyer CE, Steketee JD (2002) Cocaine sensitization: modulation by dopamine D2 receptors. Cereb Cortex 12(5):526-535.
- Blair HT, Schafe GE, Bauer EP, Rodriques SM, LeDoux JE (2001) Synaptic plasticity in the lateral amygdala: a cellular hypothesis of fear conditioning. Learn Mem 8(5):229-42.

- Bogerts B, Falkai P, Haupts M, Greve B, Ernst S, Tapernon-Franz U, Heinzmann U
 (1990) Post-mortem volume measurements of limbic system and basal ganglia structures in chronic schizophrenics. Initial results from a new brain collection.
 Schizophr Res 3(5-6):295-301.
- Boudreau AC, Wolf ME (2005) Behavioral sensitization to cocaine is associated with increased AMPA receptor surface expression in the nucleus accumbens. J Neurosci 25(40):9144-9151.
- Boyson SJ, McGonigle P, Molinoff PB (1986) Quantitative autoradiographic localization of the D1 and D2 subtypes of dopamine receptors in rat brain. J Neurosci 6(11):3177-3188.
- Breese GR, Knapp DJ, Criswell HE, Moy SS, Papadeas ST, Blake BL(2005) The neonate-6-hydroxydopamine-lesioned rat: a model for clinical neuroscience and neurobiological principles. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 48(1):57-73.
- Brown RW, Gass JT, Kostrzewa RM (2002) Ontogenetic quinpriole treatments produce spatial memory deficits and enhance skilled reaching in adult rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 72(3):591-600.
- Brown RW, Flanigan TJ, Thompson KN, Thacker SK, Shaefer TL, Williams MT (2004) Neonatal quinpirole treatment impairs Morris water task performance in early

postweanling rats: relationship to increases to corticosterone and decreases in neurotrophic factors. Biol Psychiatry 56(3): 161-168.

- Brown RW, Perna MK, Maple AM, Wilson TD, Miller BE (2008) Adulhood olanzapine treatment fails to alleviate decreases of ChAT and BDNF RNA expression in rats quinpirole-primed as neonates. Brain Res 1200: 66-77.
- Brus R, Szkilnik R, Kostrzewa RM (1996) Nitric oxide (NO) and central dopamine (DA) D3 receptor reactivity to quinpirole in rats. Acta Neurobiol Exp 56(1):15-19.
- Cadoni C, Pisanu A, Solinas M, Acquas E, Di Chiara G (2002) Behavioral sensitization after repeated exposure to Delta 9-tetrahydrocannabinol and cross-sensitization with morphine. Psychopharmacology 158:259-266.
- Cameron DL, Williams JT (1993) Dopamine D1 receptors facilitate transmitter release. Nature 366:344-347.
- Camp DM, Robinson TE (1988) Susceptibility to sensitization. II. The influence of gonadal hormones on enduring changes in brain monoamines and behavior produced by the repeated administration of D-amphetamine or restraint stress. Behav Brain Res 30:69-88.

- Carboni E, Speilewoy C, Vacca C, Nosten-Bertrand M, Giros B, Di Chiara G (2001) Cocaine and amphetamine increase extracellular dopamine in the nucleus accumbens of mice lacking the dopamine transporter gene. J Neurosci 21:1-4.
- Carlezon WA Jr, Duman RS, Nestler EJ (2005) The many faces of CREB. Trends Neurosci 28:436-445.
- Carpenter WT Jr, Buchanan RW (1994) Schizophrenia. N Engl J Med 330(10):681-690.
- Chambers RA, Moore J, McEvoy JP, Levin ED (1996) Cognitive effects of neonatal hippocampal lesions in a rat model of schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 15:587-594.
- Chen YC, Choi JK, Andersen SL, Rosen BR, Jenkins BG (2005) Mapping dopamine D2/D3 receptor function using pharmacological magnetic resonance imaging. Psychopharmacol 180:705-715.
- Claytor R, Lile JA, Nader MA (2006) The effects of eticlopride and the selective D3antagonist PNU 99194 on food- and cocaine-maintained responding in rhesus monkeys. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 83:456-464.

- Collins GT, Witkin JM, Newman AH, Svensson KA, Grundt P, Cao J, Woods JH (2005) Dopamine agonist-induced yawning in rats: a dopamine D3 receptor-mediated behavior. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 314:310-319.
- Cooper SJ, Rusk IN, Barber DJ (1989) Yawning induced by the selective dopamine D2 agonist N-0437 is blocked by the selective dopamine autoreceptor antagonist (+)-UH 232. Physiol Behav 45:1263-1266.
- Cope ZA (2008) Amphetamine sensitization and in vivo microdialysis of the nucleus accumbens core of adult male and female rats D2-primed as neonates. Electronic Resource.

Cope ZA, Huggins KN, Sheppard AB, Brown RW (2009) in press at Synapse.

- Coyle JT (2006) Substance use disorders and Schizophrenia: a question of shared glutamatergic mechanisms. Neurotox Res 79:385-387.
- Creese I, Burt DR, Snyder SH (1976) Dopamine receptor binding predicts clinical and pharmacological potencies of antischizophrenic drugs. Science 192:481-483.
- Cuffel BJ, Jeste DV, Halpain M, Pratt C, Tarke H, Patterson TL (1996) Treatment costs and use of community mental health services for schizophrenia by age cohorts. Am J Psychiatry 153:870-876.

- Dawson ME, Schell AM, Hazlett EA, Nuechterlein KH, Fillon DL (2000) On the clinical and cognitive meaning of impaired sensorimotor gating in schizophrenia. Psychiatry Res 96:187-197.
- Dawson TM, Barone P, Sidhu A, Wamsley JK, Chase TN (1986) Quantitative autoradiographic localization of D1 dopamine receptors in the rat brain: use of the iodinated ligand [125I]SCH 23982.
- Dervaux A, Bayle' FJ, Laqueille X, Bourdel MC, Le Borgne MH, Olie' JP, Krebs MO (2001) Is substance abuse in schizophrenia related to impulsivity, sensation seeking, or anhedonia? Am J Psychiatry 158:492-494.
- Di Chiara G, Imperato A (1988) Drugs abused by humans preferentially increase synaptic dopamine concentrations in the mesolimbic system of freely moving rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci 85:5274-5278.
- Dixon L, Lyles A, Smith C, Hoch JS, Fahey M, Postrado L, Lucksted A, Lehman A (1991) Use and costs of ambulatory care services among Medicare enrollees with schizophrenia. Psychiatr Serv 52:786-792.

- Drouin C, Darracq L, Trovero F, Blanc G, Glowinski J, Cotecchia S, Tassin JP (2002) Alpha 1b-adrenergic receptors control locomotor and rewarding effects of psychostimulants and opiates. J Neurosci 22:2873-2884.
- Duffy RA, Hunt MA, Wamsley JK, McQuade RD (2000) In vivo autoradiography of [3H]SCH 39166 in rat brain: selective displacement by D1/D5 antagonists. J Chem Neuroanat 19:41-46.
- Duncan GE, Sheitman BB, Lieberman JA (1999) An integrated view of pathophysiological models of schizophrenia. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 29:250-264.
- Durstewitz D, Kroner S, Gunturkun O (1999) The dopaminergic innervation of the avian telencephalon. Prog Neurobiol 59:161-195.
- Eastwood SL, Harrison PJ (1995) Decreased synaptophoysin in the medial temporal lobe in schizophrenia demonstrated using immunoautoradiography. Neuroscience 69:339-343.
- Eastwood SL, Harrison PJ (1998) Hippocampal and cortical growth-associated protein-43 messenger RNA in schizophrenia. Neuroscience 86:437-448.

- Egan MF, Weinberger DR (1997) Neurobiology of schizophrenia. Curr Opin Neurobiol 7:701-707.
- Egilmez Y, Jung ME, Lane JD, Emmett-Oglesby MW (1995) Dopamine release during cocaine self-administration in rats: effect of SCH23390. Brain Res 701:142-150.
- Elvevag B, Goldman TE (2000) Cognitive impairment in schizophrenia is the core of the disorder. Crit Rev Neurobiol 14:1-21.
- Ennaceur A, Delacour J (1988) A new one-trial test for neurobiological studies of memory in rats. 1: Behavioral data. Behav Brain Res 31:47-59.
- Feldman S, Conforti N, Melamed E (1986) Noradrenergic mediation of adrenocortical responses following cortical stimulation in the rat. Isr J Med Sci 22:591-593.
- Feldman S, Weidenfel J (1996) Norepinephrine depletion in the amygdala inhibits CRF-41, ACTH, and corticosterone responses following photic simulation. Brain Res Bull 41:83-86.
- Floor E, Meng L (1996) Amphetamine releases dopmaine from synaptic vesicles by dual mechanisms. Neurosci Lett 215:53-56.

- Ford JM, Krystal JH, Mathalon DH (2007) Neural synchrony in schizophrenia: from networks to new treatments. Schizophr Bull 33:848-852.
- Forgie ML, Stewart J (1994) Effect of prepubertal ovariectomy on amphetamine-induced locomotor activity in adult female rats. Horm Behav 28:241-260.
- Fuxe K, Agnati LF (1985) Receptor-receptor interactions in the central nervous system. A new integrative mechanism in synapses. Med Res Rev 5:441-482.
- Galloway MP (1990) Regulation of dopamine and serotonin synthesis by acute administration of cocaine. Synapse 6:63-72.
- Goldman-Rakic PS (1998) The cortical dopamine system: role in memory and cognition. Adv Pharmacol 42:707-711.
- Gao C, Wolf ME (2008) Dopamine receptor regulate NMDA receptor surface expression in prefrontal cortex neurons. J Neurochem 106:2489-2501.
- Gaspar P, Bustamante M, Silva H, Aboitiz F (2009) Molecular mechanisms underlying glutamatergic dysfunction in schizophrenia: therapeutic implications. J Neurochem Aug 4 (Epub ahead of print)

- Gershanik O, Heikkila RE, Duvoisin RC (1983) Effects of dopamine depletion on rotational behavior to dopamine agonists. Brain Res 261:358-360.
- Goldwert D, Norris JM, Feldman IG, Schulamn JJ, Joyce MP, Rayport S (2006) Dopamine presynaptically and heterogeneously modulates nucleus accumbens medium-spiny neuron GABS synapses in vitro BMC Neuroscience 7:53.
- Gray JM, Ziemian L (1992) Antiestrogen binding sites in brain and pituitary of ovariextomized rats. Brain Res 578:55-60.
- Grayson B, Idris NF, Neill JC (2007) Atypical antipsychotic attenuate a sub-chronic PCP-induced cognitive deficit in the novel object recognition task in the rat. Behav Brain Res 184:31-38.
- Green MF (1996) What are the functional consequences of neurocognitive deficits in schizophrenia? Am J Psychiatr 153:321-330.
- Greengard P, Allen PB, Nairn AC (1999) Beyond the dopamine receptor: the DARPP-32/protein phosphatase-1 cascade. Neuron 23:435-447.
- Gregg L, Barrowclough C, Haddock G (2007) Reasons for increased substance use in psychosis. Clin Psychol Rev 27:494-510.

- Haaren F, Meyer ME (1991) Sex differences in locomotor activity after acute and chronic cocaine administration. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 39:923-927.
- Hafner H, Maurer K, Loffler W, Reicher-Rossler A (1991) Schizophrenia and age. Nervenartz 62:536-548.
- Hooks MS, Jones GH, Liem BJ, Justice JB Jr (1992) Sensitization and individual differences to IP amphetamine, cocaine, or caffeine following repeated intracranial amphetamine infusions. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 43:815-823.
- Hopf FW, Martin M, Chen BT, Bowers MS, Mohamedi MM, Bonci A (2007) Withdrawal from intermittent ethanol exposure increases probability of burst firing in VTA neurons in vitro. J Neurophysiol 98:2297-2310.
- Hruska RE, Silbergeld EK (1980) Increased dopamine receptor sensitivity after estrogen treatment using the rat roation model. Science 208:1466-1468.
- Hummel and Unterwald (2002) D1 dopamine receptor: a putative neurochemical and behavioral link to cocaine action. J Cell Physiol 191:17-27.
- Hurd YL, Ungerstedt U (1989) Ca2+ dependence of amphetamine, nomifensine, and Lu 19-005 effect on in vivo dopamine transmission. Eur J Pharmacol 166:261-269.

- Hyman SE, Malenka RC, Nestler EJ (2006) Neural mechanisms of addiction: the role of reward-related learning and memory. Annu Rev Neurosci 29:565-598.
- Javitt DC, Zukin SR (1991) Recent advances in the phencyclidine model of schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 148:1301-1308.
- Jones SR, Gainetdinov RR, Jaber M, Giros B, Wightman RM, Caron MG (1998) Profound neuronal plasticity in response to inactivation of the dopamine transporter. Proc Natl Acad Sci 95:4029-4034.
- Justice AJ, De Wit H (2000) Acute effects of d-amphetamine during the early and late follicular phases of the menstural cycle in women. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 66:509-515.
- Kalivas PW, Alesdatter JE (1993) Involvement of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor stimulation in the ventral tegmental area and amygdala in behavioral sensitization to cocaine. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 267:486-495.
- Kalivas PW, Duffy P (1995) D1 receptor modulate glutamate transmission in the ventral tegmental area. J Neurosci 15:5379-5388.

- Kalivas PW, Stewart J (1991) Dopamine transmission in the initiation and expression of drug- and stress-induced sensitization of motor activity. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 16:223-244.
- Kalivas PW, Churchill L, Klitenick MA (1993a) GABA and enkaphalin projection from the nucleus accumbens and ventral pallidum to the ventral tegmental area. Neuroscience 57:1047-1060.
- Kalivas PW, Sorg BA, Hooks MS (1993) The pharmacology and neural circuitry of sensitization to psychostimulants. Behav Pharmacol 4:315-334.
- Kelley AE, Berridge KC (2002) The neuroscience of natural rewards: relevance to addictive drugs. J Neurosci 22:3306-3011.
- Killcross AS, Dickinson A, Robbins TW (1994) Effects of neuroleptic alpha-flupenthixol on latent inhibition in aversively- and appetitively-motivated paradigms: evidence for dopaminer-reinforcer interactions. Psychopharamcology 115:196-205.
- Koob GF (1992) Neural mechanisms of drug reinforcement. Ann N Y Acad Sci 654:171-191.
- Koob GF, Bloom FE (1988) Cellular and molecular mechanisms of drug dependence. Science 242:715-723.

- Kosten TA, Gawin FH, Kosten TR, Rounsaville BJ (1993) Gender differences in cocaine use and treatment response. J Subst Abuse Treat 10:63-66.
- Kostrzewa RM, Brus R, Kalbfleisch J (1991) Ontogenetic homologous sensitization tgo the antinociceptive action of quinpirole in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 209:157-161.

Kostrzewa RM (1995) Dopamine receptor supersensitivity. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 19:1-17.

Kostrzewa RM, Brus R, Rykaczewska M, Plech A (1993) Low-dose quinpirole ontogenetically sensitizes to quinpirole-induced yawning in rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 44:487-489.

Kostrzrewa RM, Guo J, Kostrzewa FP (1993) Ontogenetic quinpirole treatment induces vertical jumping activity in rats. Eur J Pharmacol 239:183-187.

- Kostrzewa RM, Kostrzewa JP, Brown RW, Nowak P, Brus R (2008) Dopamine receptor supersentivity: development, mechanisms, presentation and clinical applicability. Neurotox Res 14:121-128.
- Krystal JH, D'Souza DC, Mathalon D, Perry E, Belger A, Hoffman R (1994) NMDA receptor antagonist effects, cortical glutamatergic function, and schizophrenia:

toward a paradigm shift in medication development. Psychopharmacology 169:215-233.

- Kuczenski R, Segal D (1989) Concomitant characterization of behavioral and striatal neurotransmitter response to amphetamine using in vivo microdialysis. J Neurosci 9:2051-2065.
- La Hoste GJ, Yu J, Marshall JF (1993) Striatal Fos expression is indicative of dopamine D1/D2 synergism and receptor supersensitivity. Proc Natl Acad Sci 90:7451-7455.
- La Hoste GJ, Marshall JF (1993b) The role of dopamine in the maintenance and breakdown of D1/D2 synergism. Brain Res 611:108-116.
- La Hoste GJ, Ruskin DN, Marshall JF (1996) Cerebrocortical Fos expression following dopaminergic stimulation: D1/D2 synergism and its breakdown. Brain Res 728:97-104.
- Lacroix L, Spinelli S, White W, Feldon J (2000) The effects of ibotenic acid lesions of the medial and lateral prefrontal cortex on latent inhibition, prepulse inhibition and amphetamine-induced hyperlocomotion. Neuroscience 97:459-468.

- Lanzenberger R, Kasper S (2005) Neuroimaging in schizophrenia. Fortschr Neurol Psychiatr 73 Suppl 1: S51-59.
- Laruelle M, Abi-Dargham A, van Dyck CH, Gil R, D'Souze CD, Erdos J, McCance E, Rosenblatt W, Fingado C, Zoghbi SS, Bladwin RM, Seibyl JP, Krystal JH, Charney Dsk, Innis RB(1996) Single photon emission computerized tomography imaging of amphetamine-induced dopamine release in drug-free schizophrenic subjects. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:9235-9240.
- Laruelle M, Frankle WG, Narendran R, Kegeles LS, Abi-Dargham A (2005) Mechanism of action of antipsychotic drugs: from dopamine D(2) receptor antagonism to glutamate NMDA facilitation. Clin Ther 27 Suppl A:S16-24.
- Le Duc PA, Mittleman G (1995) Schizophrenia and psychostimulant abuse: a review and re-analysis of clinical evidence. Psychopharmacology 121:407-427.
- Leung A, Chue P (2000) Sex differences in schizophrenia, a review of the literature. Acta Psychiatr Scan Suppl 401:3-38.
- Levesque D, Di Paolo T (1988) Rapid conversion of high into low striatal D2-dopamine receptor agonist binding states after an acute physiological dose of 17 betaestradiol. Neurosci Lett 88:113-118.

- Lewis MH, Widerlov E, Knight DL, Kilts CD, Mailman RB (1983) N-oxides of phenothiazine antipsychotics: effects on in vivo and in vitro estimates of dopaminergic function. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 225:539-545.
- Lewis DA, Foote SL, Goldstein M, Morrison JH (1998) The dopaminergic innervation of monkey prefrontal cortex: a tyrosine hydroxylase immunohistochemcial study. Brain Res 449:225-243.
- Lieberman JA, Kane JM, Sarantakos S, Gadleta D, Woerner M, Alvir J, Ramos-Lorenzi J (1987) Prediction of relapse in schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 44:597-603.
- Lindvall O, Bjorklund A, Skagerberg G (1984) Selective histochemical demonstration of dopaminer terminal systems in rat di- and telencephalon: new evidence for doapminergic innervation of hypothalamic neurosecretory nuclei. Brain Res 306:19-30.
- Lipska BK, Jaskiw GE, Weinberger DR (1993) Postpubertal emergence of hyperresponsiveness to stress and to amphetamine after neonatal excitotoxic hippocampal damage: a potential animal model of schizophrenia. Neuropsychopharmacology 9:67-75.
- Lipska BK, Swerdlow NR, Geyer MA, Jaskiw GE, Braff DL, Weinberger DR (1995) Neonatal excitotoxic hippocampal damage in rats causes post-pubertal changes
in prepulse inhibition of startle and its disruption by apomorphine. Psychopharmacology 122:35-43.

- Lisman JE, Coyle JT, Green RW, Javitt DC, Benes FM, Heckers S Grace AA (2008) Circuit-based framework for understanding neurotransmitter and risk gene interactions in schizophrenia. Trends Neurosci 31:234-242.
- Lubow RE, Gewirtz JC (1995) Latent inhibition in humans: data, theory, and implications for schizophrenia. Psychol Bull 117:87-103.
- Lynch WJ, Carroll ME (2002) Regulation of drug intake. Exp Clin Psychopharmacol 9:131-143.
- Maldonado R, Robledo P, Chover AJ, Caine SB, Koob GF (1993) D1 dopamine receptors in the nucleus accumbens modulate cocaine self-administration in the rat. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 45:239-242.
- Mandel RJ, Randall PK (1985) Quantification of lesion-induced dopaminergic supersensitivity using the rotational model in the mouse. Brain Res 330:358-363.
- Maple AM (2006) Nicotine exacerbation of reductions in PPI in a rodent model of schizophrenia. Dissertation. East Tennessee State University.

- Maple AM, Perna MK, Parlaman JP, Stanwood GD, Brown RW (2007) Ontogenetic quinpirole treatment produces long-lasting decreases in the expression of Rgs9, but increases Rgs17 in the striatum, nucleus accumbens and frontal cortex. Eur J Neurosci 26:2532-2538.
- Marcondes FK, Bianchi FJ, Tanno AP (2002) Determination of the estrous cycle phases of rats: some helpful considerations. Braz J Biol 62:609-614.
- Martres MP, Sokoloff P, Giros B, Bouthenet MI, Pilon C, Lannfelt I, Schwartz JC (1992) Dopaminergic receptors, multiple targets for neuroleptics. Ann Med Psychol 150:119-123.
- Maus M, Bertrand P, Drouva S, Rasolonjanahary R, Kordon C, Glowinski J, Premont J, Enjalbert A (1989a) Differential modulation of D1 and D2 dopaminer-sensitive adenylate cyclases by 17 beta-estradiol in cultured striatal neurons and anterior pituitary cells. J Neurochem 52:410-418.
- Maus M, Cordier J, Glowinski J, Premont J(1989b) Adenylate cyclase sensitive to biogenic amines. Eur J Neurosci 1:154-161.
- McClung CA, Ulery PG, Perrotti LI, Zachariou V, Berton O, Nestler EJ (2004) DeltaFosB: a molecular switch for long-term adaptation in the brain. Brain Res Mol Brain Res 132:146-154.

- McClung CA, Nestler EJ (2008) Neuroplasticity mediated by altered gene expression. Neuropsychopharmacology 33:3-17.
- McKinney WT Jr, Bunney WE Jr (1969) Animal model of depression. I. Review of evidence: implications for research. Arch Gen Psychiatry 21:240-248.
- McKittrick CR, Abercrombie ED (2007) Catecholamine mapping within nucleus accumbens: differences in basa and amphetamine-stimulated efflux of norepinephrine and dopamine in shell and core. J Neurochem 100:1247-1256.
- Melnick SM, Dow-Edwards DL (2001) Differential behavioral responses to chronic amphetamine in adult male and female rats exposed to postnatal cocaine treatment. Neurotoxicol Teratol 23:445-451.
- Meredith GE, Callen S, Scheuer DA (2002) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor expression is increased in the rat amygdala, piriform cortex and hypothalamus following repeated amphetamine adminsitration. Brain Res 949:218-227.
- Missale C, Nash SR, Robinson SW, Jaber M, Caron MG (1998) Dopamine receptors: from structure to function. Physiol Rev 78:189-225.

Montague PR, Hyman SE, Cohen JD (2004) Computational roles for dopamine in behavioral control. Nature 431:760-767.

Mueser KT, McGurk SR (2004) Schizophrenia. Lancet 363:2063-2072.

- Muscat R, Iravanai MM, Kruk ZL (1996) The role of ventral tegmental dopamine neurons in locomotor sensitization following quinpirole or (+)-amphetamine: ex vivo voltammetric evidence. Neuroscience 75:1175-1184.
- Nestler EJ (2002) Common molecular and cellular substrates of addictions and memory. Neurobiol Learn Mem 78:637-647.
- Nestler EJ, Aghajanian GK (1997) Molecular and cellular basis of addiction. Science 278:58-63.
- Nestler EJ, Terwilliger RZ, Duman RS (1995) Regulation of endogenous ADPribosylation by acute and chronic lithium in rat brain. J Neurochem 64:2319-2324.
- Nowak P, Brus R, Kostrzewa RM (2001) Amphetamine-induced enhancement of neostriatal in vivo microdialysate dopamine content in rats quinpirole-primed as neonates. Pol J Pharmacol 53:319-329.

- O'Donnell P, Grace AA (1994) Tonic D2-mediated attenuation of cortical excitation in nucleus accumbens neurons recorded in vitro. Brain Res 634:105-112.
- Paxinos G, Watson C (1986) The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates. Second Edition. New York: Academic Press.
- Peris J, Dnecambre N, Coleman-Hardee ML, Simpkins JW (1991) Estradiol enhances
 behavioral sensitization cocaine and amphetamine-stimulated striatal
 [3H]dopamine release. Brain Res 566:255-264.
- Perna MK, Cope ZA, Maple AM, Longacre ID, Correll JA, Brown RW (2008) Nicotine sensitization in adult male and female rats quinpirole-primed as neonates. Psychopharmacology 199:67-75.
- Peuskens J, Demily C, Thibaut F (2005) Treatment of cognitive dysfunction in schizophrenia. Clin Ther 27 Suppl A: S25-37.
- Pierce RC, Kalivas PW (1997) A circuitry model of the expression of behavioral sensitization to amphetamine-like psychostimulants. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 25:192-216.
- Pierce RC, Duffy P, Kalivas PW (1995) Sensitization to cocaine and dopamine autoreceptor subsensitivity in the nucleus accumbens. Synapse 20:33-36.

- Pinto A, Sesack SR (2008) Ultrastructural analysis of prefrontal cortical inputs to the rat amygdala: spatial relationships to presumed dopamine axons and D1 and D2 receptors. Brain Struct Funct 213:159-175.
- Porrino LJ, Goldman-Rakic PS (1982) Brainstem innervation of prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex in the rhesus monkey revealed by retrograde transport of HRP. J Comp Neurol 205:63-76.
- Potvin S, Blanchet P, Stip E (2009) Substance abuse is associated with increased extrapyramidal symptoms in schizophrenia: a meta-analysis. Schizophr Res 113:181-188.
- Pulvirenti L, Swerdlow NR, Koob GF (1991) Nucleus accumbens NMDA anatagonist decreases locomotor activity produced by cocaine, heroin, or accumbens dopamine, but not caffeine. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 40:841-845.
- Rahman S, McBride WJ (2001) D1-D2 dopamine receptor interaction within the nucleus accumbens mediates long-loop negative feedback to the ventral tegmental area (VTA). J Neurochem 77:1248-1255.

- Rahman S, Zhang J, Corrigall WA (2003) Effects of acute and chronic nicotine on somatodenddritic dopamine release of the rat ventral tegmental area: in vivo microdialysis study. Neurosci Lett 348:61-64.
- Riecher-Rossler A, Hafner H, Dutsch-Strobel A, Oster M, Stumbaum M, van Gulick-Bailer M, Loffler W (1994) Further evidence for a specific role of estradiol in schizophrenia? Biol Psychiatry 36:492-494.
- Ren J, Xu H, Choi JK, Jenkins BG, Chen YI (2009) Dopaminergic response to graded dopamine concentration elicited by four amphetamine doses. Synapse 63:764-772.
- Robbins TW, Everitt BJ (1999) Drug addiction: bad habits add up. Nature 398:567-570.
- Robinson TE,Berridge KC (1993) The neural basis of drug craving: an incentivesensitization theory of addiction. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 18:247-291.
- Robinson TE, Becker JB, Ramirez VD (1980) Sex differences in amphetamine-elicited rotational behavior and the lateralization of striatal dopamine in rats. Brain Res Bull 5:539-545.

- Robinson TE, Camp DM, Becker JB (1981) Gonadectomy attenuates turning behavior produced by electrical stimulation of the nigrostriatal dopamine system in female but not male rats. Neurosci Lett 23:203-208.
- Robinson TE, Becker JB, Presty SK (1982) Long-term faciliation of amphetamineinduced rotational behavior and striatal dopamine release produced by a single exposure to amphetamine: sex differences. Brain Res 253:231-241.
- Rocha BA, Fumagalli F, Gainetdinov RR, Jones SR, Ator R, Giros B, Miller GW, Caron MG (1998) Cocaine self-administraion in dopamine-transporter knockout mice. Nat Neurosci 1:132-137.
- Ross EM, Wilkie TM (2000) GTPase-activating proteins for heterotrimeric G proteins: regulators of G protein signaling (RGS) and RGS-like proteins. Annu Rev Biochem 69:795-827.
- Schad CA, Justice JB Jr, Holtzman SG (1996) Differential effects of delta- and muopoid receptor antagonists on the amphetamine-induced increase in extracellular dopamine in striatum and nucleus accumbens. J Neurochem 67:2292-2299.
- Schindler CW, Carmona GN (2002) Effects of dopamine agonists and antagonists on locomotor activity in males and female rats. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 72:857-863.

- Schmitt GJ, Meisenzahl EM, Frodl T, La Fougere C, Hahn K, Moller HJ, Dresel S (2009) Increase of striatal dopamine transmission in first episode drug-naïve schizophrenic patients as demonstrated by [(123)I]IBZM SPECT. Psychiatry Res 173:183-189.
- Schwarting RK,Huston JP (1996) The unilateral 6-hydroxydopamine lesion model in behavioral brain research. Analysis of functional deficits, recovery and treatments. Prog Neurobiol 50:275-331.

Seeman P (1980) Brain dopamine receptors. Pharmacol Rev 32:229-313.

Seeman P (1987) The absolute density of neurotransmitter receptors in the brain. Example for dopamine receptors. J Pharamcol Methods 17:347-360.

Seeman P (2005) An update of fast-off dopamine D2 atypical antipsychotics. Am J Psychiatry 162:1984-1985.

Seeman P (1987) Dopamine receptors and the dopamine hypothesis of schizophrenia. Synapse 1:133-152.

Seeman P, Van Tol HH (1994) Dopamine receptor pharmacology. Trends Pharmacol Sci 15:264-270.

- Seeman P, Hall FS, Uhl G (2007) Increased dopamine D2High receptors in knockouts of the dopamine transporter and the vesicular monoamine transporter may contribute to spontaneous hyperactivity and dopamine supersensitivity. Synapse 61:573-576.
- Segal DS, Mandell AJ (1974) Long-term administration of d-amphetamine: progressive augmentation of motor activity and stereotypy. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 2:249-255.
- Segovia G, Mora F (2001) Involvement of NMDA and AMPA/kainate receptors in the effects of endogenous glutamate on extracellular concentrations of dopamine and GABA in the nucleus accumbens of the awake rat. Brain Res Bull 54:153-157.
- Seiden LS, Sabol KE, Ricaurte GA (1993) Amphetamine: effects on catecholamine systems and behavior. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 33:639-677.
- Self DW (2004) Regulation of drug-taking and -seeking behaviors by neuroadaptations in the mesolimbic dopamine system. Neuropharmacology 47 Suppl 1: 242-255.

- Sesack SR, Aoki C, Pickel VM (1994) Ultrastructural localization of D2 receptor-like immunoreactivity in midbrain dopamine neurons and their striatal targets. J neurosci 14:88-106.
- Seutin V, Berbanck P, Massotte L, Dresse A(1991) Acute amphetamine-induced subsensitivity of A10 dopamine autoreceptors in vitro. Brain Res 558:141-144.
- Sheppard AB, Hughes B, Noel DM, Brown RW (in press) Sex differences in nicotineconditioned hyperactivity in a model of dopamine D2 receptor priming. Synapse.
- Shi WX, Smith PL, Pun CL, Millet B, Bunney BS (1997) D1-D2 interaction in feedback control of midbrain dopamine neurons. J Neurosci 17:7988-7894.
- Snyder SH, Goodman RR (1980) Multiple neurotransmitter receptors. J Neurochem 35:5-15.
- Solomon PR, Crider A, Winkelman JW, Turi A, Kamer RM, Kaplan LJ (1981) Disrupted latent inhibition in the rat with chronic amphetamine or haloperidol-induced supersensitivity: relationship to schizophrenic attention disorder. Biol Psychiatry 16:519-537.
- Spanagel R, Weiss F (1999) The dopamine hypothesis of reward: past and current status. Trends Neurosci 22:521-527.

- Suddath RL, Chistison GW, Torrey EF, Casanova MF, Weinberger DR (1990) Anatomical abnormalities in the brains of monozygotic twins discordant for schizophrenia. N Engl J Med 322:789-794.
- Sulzer D, Rayport S (1990) Amphetamine and other psychostimulant reduce pH gradients in midbrain dopaminergic neurons and chromaffin granules: a mechanism of action. Neuron 5:797-808.
- Sulzer D, Maidment NT, Rayport S (1993) Amphetamine and other weak bases act to promote reverse transport of dopamine in ventral midbrain neurons. J Neurochem 60:527-535.
- Sulzer D, Chen TK, Lay YY, Kristensen H, Rayport S, Ewing A (1995) Amphetamine redistributes dopamine from synaptic vesicles to the cytosol and promotes reverse transport. J Neurosci 15:4102-4128.
- Swerdlow NR, Braff DL, Hartston H, Perry W, Geyer MA (1996) Latent inhibition in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 20:91-103.
- Swerdlow NR, Platten A, Shoemaker J, Pitcher L, Auerback P (2001) Effects of pergolide on sensorimotor gating of the startle reflex in rats.
 Psychopharmacology 158:230-240.

- Swofford CD, Scheller-Gilkey G, Miller AH, Woolwine B, Mance R (2000) Double jeopardy: schizophrenia and substance abuse. Am J Alchol Abuse 26:343-353.
- Szumlinski KK, Goodwill AM, Szechtman H (2000) Locomotor sensitization to quinpirole in rats: effects of drug abstinence and sex. Psychopharmacology 152:304-311.

Tamminga CA (1998) Serotonin and schizophrenia. Biol Pschiatry 44:1079-1080.

- Tanabe LM, Suto N, Creekmore E, Steinmiller CL, Vezina P (2004) Blockade of D2 dopamine receptors in the VTA induces long-lasting enhancement of the locmotor activating effects of amphetamine. Behav Pharmacol 15:387-395.
- Teicher MH, Krenzel E, Thompson AP, Andersen SL (2003) Dopamine receptor pruning during the peripubertal period is not attenuated by NMDA receptor antagonism in rat. Neurosci Lett 339:169-171.
- Thacker SK, Perna MK, Ward JJ, Schaefer TL, Williams MT, Kostrzewa RM, Brown RW (2006) The effects of adulthood olanzapine treatment on cognitive performance and neurotrophic factor content in male and female rats neonatally treated with quinpirole. Eur J Neurosci 24:2075-2083.

- Thomas DN, Nutt DJ, Holman RB (1998) Sertraline, a selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor modulates extracellular noradrenaline in the rat frontal cortex. J Psychopharmacol 12:366-370.
- Tilson HA, Rech RH (1973) Prior drug experience and effects of amphetamine on schedule controlled behavior. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 1:129-132.
- Tsai G, Coyle JT (2002) Glutamatergic mechanisms in schizophrenia. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 42:165-179.
- Tzschentke TM (2001) Pharmacology and behavioral pharmacology of the mesocortical dopamine system. Prog Neurobiol 63:241-320.
- Van Etten ML, Neumark YD, Anthony JC (1999) Male-female differences in the earliest stages of drug involvment. Addiction 94:1413-1419.
- Van Hartesveldt et al. (1989) Effects of intrastriatal hormones on the dorsal immobility response in the rat. Behav Brain Res 35:111-115.
- van Rossum JM(1966) The significance of dopamine-receptor blockade for the mechanism of action of neurleptic drugs. Arch In Pharmacodyn Ther 160:492-494.

- Vanderschuren LJ, Kalivas PW (2000) Alteration in dopaminergic and glutamatergic transmission in the induction and expression of behavioral sensitization: a critical review of preclinical studies. Psychopharmacology 151:99-120.
- Vanderschuren LJ, Beemster P, Schoffelmeer AN (2003) On the role of noradrenaline in psychostimulant-induced psychomotor activity and sensitization. Psychopharmacology 169:176-185.
- Vezina P (1996) D1 dopamine receptor activation is necessary for the induction of sensitization by amphetamine in the ventral tegmental area. J Neurosci 16:2411-2420.
- Vezina P, Stewart J (1989) The effect of dopamine receptor blockade on the development of senstiziation to the locomotor activating effects of amphetamine and morphine. Brain Res 499:108-120.
- Waldo MC, Cawthra E, Adler LE, Dubester S, Staunton M, Nagamoto H, Baker N,
 Madison A, Simon J, Scherzinger A (1994) Auditory sensory gating,
 hippocampal volume, and catecholamine metabolism in schizophrenics and their siblings. Schizophr Res 12:93-106.
- Wamsley JK, Alburges ME, Hunt MA, Bylund DB (1992) Differential localization of alpha 2-adrenergic receptor subtypes in brain. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 41:267-273.

- Wan RQ, Giovanni A, Kafka SH, Corbett R (1996) Neonatal hippocampal lesions induced hyperresponsivness to amphetamine: behavioral and in vivo microdialysis studies. Behav Brain Res 78:211-223.
- Warner RL, Johnston C, Hamilton R, Skolnick MH, Wilson OB (1994) Transcranial electrostimulation effects on rat opiod and neurotransmitter levels. Life Sci 54:481-490.
- Weinberger DR (1987) Implications of normal brain development for the pathogenesis of schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry 44:660-669.

Weinberger DR (1999) Schizophrenia: new phenes and genes. Biol Psychiatry 46:3-7.

- White FJ (2002) A behavioral/systems approach to the neuroscience of drug addiction. J Neurosci 22:3303-3305.
- White FJ, Bednarz LM, Wachtel SR, Hjorth S, Brooderson RJ (1988) Is stimulation of both D1 and D2 receptors necessary for the expression of dopamine-mediated behaviors? Pharmacol Biochem Behav 30:189-193.
- White NM (1996) Addictive drugs as reinforcers: multiple partial actions on memory systems. Addiction 91:921-949.

Wilkinson LS, Mittleman G, Torres E, Humby T, Hall FS, Robbins TW (1993)
 Enhancement of amphetamine-induced locomotor activity and dopamine release
 in nucleus accumbens following excitotoxic lesions of the hippocampus. Behav
 Brain Res 55:143-150.

Williams SM, Goldman-Rakic PS (1998) Widespread origin of the primate mesofrontal dopamine system. Cereb Cortex 8:321-345.

Wise RA (1996) Neurobiology of addiction. Curr Opin Neurobiol 6:243-251.

Wise RA, Bozarth MA (1987) A psychomotor stimulant theory of addiction. Psychol Rev 94:469-492.

Wolf ME, White FJ, Hu XT (1993) Behavioral sensitization to MK-801 (dizocilipine): neurochemical and electrophysiological correlates in the mesoaccumbens dopamine system. Behav Pharmacol 4:429-442.

Wolf ME, White FJ, Hu XT (1994) MK-801 prevents alterations in the mesoaccumbens dopamine system associated with behavioral sensitization to amphetamine. J Neuroscie 14:1735-1745.

- Wolf ME, Dahlin SL, Hu XT, Xue CJ, White K (1995) Effects of lesions of prefrontal cortex, amygdala, or fornix on behavioral sensitizaton to amphetamine: comparison with N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonists. Neuroscience 69:417-439.
- Wong DF, Ricaurte G, Grunderr G, Rothman R, Naidu S, Singer H, Harris J, Yokoi F, Villemagne V, Syzmanski S, Gjedde A, Kuhar M (1997) Dopamine transporter changes in neuropsychiaric disorders. Adv Pharmacol 42:219-223.
- Woolley CS, McEwen BS (1994) Estradiol regulates hippocampal dendritic spine density via an N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor-dependent mechanism. J Neurosci 14:7680-7687.
- Xiao L, Becker JB (1994) Quantitative microdialysis determination of extracellular striatal dopamine concentration in male and female rats: effects of estrous cycle and gonadectomy. Neurosci Lett 180:155-158.
- Zambricki EA, Dalecy LG (2004) Rat sex differences in anesthesia. Comp Med 54:49-53.
- Zaczek R, Culp S, Goldberg H, Mccan DJ, De Souza EB (1991a) Interactions of [3H]amphetamine with rat brain synaptosomes. I. Saturatble sequestration. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 257:820-829.

Zaczek R, Culp S, De Souza EB (1991b) Interactions of [3H]amphetamine with rat brain synaptosomes. II. Active transport. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 257:830-835.

Zhang TA, Hendricson AW, Morrisett RA (2005) Dual synaptic sites of D(1)dopaminergic regulation of ethanol sensitivity of NMDA receptors in nucleus accumbens. Synapse 58:30-44.

VITA

KIMBERLY MARIE NORRIS HUGGINS

Personal Data:	Date of Birth: October 14, 1976 Place of Birth: Hickory, North Carolina Marital Status: Married
Education:	Public Schools, Pulaski, Virginia B.S. Biology, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, May, 1998 M.S. Biology, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, August, 2001 Ph.D. Biomedical Sciences, East Tennessee State University, Johnson City, Tennessee, December, 2009
Professional experience:	Manager, East Tennessee State University, Office of Information Technology, July 2000- August 2009 Graduate Assistant, East Tennessee State University, Office of Information Technology, August 1998- May 2000
Publications:	Cope ZA, Huggins KN, Sheppard AB, Brown RW (in press) Amphetamine sensitization and increases in dopamine levels in D2 receptor-primed rats. Synapse
	Correll JA, Noel DM, Sheppard AM, Thompson KN, Li Y, Yin D, Brown RW (2009) Nicotine sensitization and analysis of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in adolescent Beta arrestin-2 knockout mice. Synapse 63(6):510-519.
	Fisanakis VA, Thompson KN, Deery SE, Milatovic D, Aschner M, Brown RW (2009) A chronic iron- deficient/high-manganese diet in rodents results in increased brain oxidative stress and behavioral deficits in the Morris Water Maze. Neurotoxicity Research 15(1):74-87.
	Brown RW, Thompson KN, Click IA, Best RA, Thacker SK, Perna MK (2005) The effects of eticlopride on Morris water task performance in male and female rats

	neonatally treated with quinpirole. Psychopharmacology 180(2):234-240.
	Brown RW, Flanigan TJ, Thompson KN, Thacker SK, Shaefer TL, Williams MT (2004) Neonatal quinpirole treatment impairs Morris water task performance in early postwanling rats: relationship to increases in corticosterone and decreases in neurotrophic factors. Biol Psychiatry 56(3):161-168.
	Brown RW, Thompson KD, Thompson KN, Ward JJ, Thacker SK, Williams MT, Kostrzewa RM (2004) Adulthood nicotine treatment alleviates behavioural impairments in rats neonatally treated with quinpirole: possible roles of acetylcholine function and neurotrophic factor expression. Eur J Neurosci 19(6):1634-1642.
Honors and Awards:	2008 Chapters Graduate Student Travel Award – Society for Neuroscience Annual Meeting
Memberships:	Society for Neuroscience